Public Document Pack

Cabinet
Title

Agenda

Date

Tuesday 21 June 2022

Time

6.00 pm

Venue

Conference Chamber
West Suffolk House
Western Way
Bury St Edmunds

Membership

Leader
Deputy Leaders
Councillor
Sarah Broughton
Carol Bull
Andy Drummond
Robert Everitt
Susan Glossop
John Griffiths
Sara Mildmay-White
Joanna Rayner
David Roach
Peter Stevens

John Griffiths
Sarah Broughton and Joanna Rayner
Portfolio
Resources and Property
Governance
Regulatory and Environment
Families and Communities
Growth
Leader
Housing and Strategic Health
Leisure, Culture and Community Hubs
Planning
Operations

Interests –
declaration and
restriction on
participation

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Quorum

Four Members

Committee
administrator

Sharon Turner
Democratic Services Officer
Telephone 01638 719237
Email sharon.turner@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Public information
Venue
Contact
information

Conference Chamber, West Suffolk House, Western Way,
Bury St Edmunds IP33 3YU
Telephone: 01638 719237
Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Website: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk

Access to
agenda and
reports before
the meeting

The agenda and reports will be available to view at least five
clear days before the meeting on our website.

Attendance at
meetings

This meeting is being held in person in order to comply with the
Local Government Act 1972. We may be required to restrict the
number of members of the public able to attend in accordance
with the room capacity. If you consider it is necessary for you
to attend, please inform Democratic Services in advance of the
meeting.
As a local authority, we have a corporate and social
responsibility for the safety of our staff, our councillors and
visiting members of the public. We, therefore, request that you
exercise personal responsibility and do not attend the meeting if
you feel at all unwell.
West Suffolk Council continues to promote good hygiene
practices with hand sanitiser and wipes being available in the
meeting room. Attendees are also able to wear face coverings,
should they wish to.

Public
participation

Members of the public who live or work in the district are
invited to put one question or statement of not more than three
minutes duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of
the agenda only. If a question is asked and answered within
three minutes, the person who asked the question may ask a
supplementary question that arises from the reply.
The Constitution allows that a person who wishes to speak must
register at least 15 minutes before the time the meeting is
scheduled to start. We urge anyone who wishes to register
to speak to notify Democratic Services by 9am on the day
of the meeting so that advice can be given on the
arrangements in place.
There is an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking,
which may be extended at the Chair’s discretion.

Accessibility

If you have any difficulties in accessing the meeting, the
agenda and accompanying reports, including for reasons of a
disability or a protected characteristic, please contact

Pages
Democratic Services at the earliest opportunity using the
contact details provided above in order that we may assist you.
Recording of
meetings

The Council may record this meeting and permits members of
the public and media to record or broadcast it as well (when the
media and public are not lawfully excluded).
Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to
being filmed should advise the Committee Administrator who
will instruct that they are not included in the filming.

Personal
information

Any personal information processed by West Suffolk Council
arising from a request to speak at a public meeting under the
Localism Act 2011, will be protected in accordance with the
Data Protection Act 2018. For more information on how we do
this and your rights in regards to your personal information and
how to access it, visit our website:
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/
howweuseinformation.cfm or call Customer Services: 01284
763233 and ask to speak to the Information Governance
Officer.

Pages

Agenda
Procedural matters
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 26 April 2022
(copy attached).

3.

Declarations of interest
Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
pecuniary or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda, no later than when that item
is reached and, when appropriate, to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on the item.

Part 1 - public
4.

Open forum
At each Cabinet meeting, up to 15 minutes shall be allocated for
questions or statements from and discussion with, non-Cabinet
members. Members wishing to speak during this session are
encouraged to give notice in advance. Who speaks and for how
long will be at the complete discretion of the person presiding.

5.

Public participation
Members of the public who live or work in the district are invited
to put one question or statement of not more than three minutes
duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of the agenda
only. If a question is asked and answered within three minutes,
the person who asked the question may ask a supplementary
question that arises from the reply.
A person who wishes to speak must register at least 15 minutes
before the time the meeting is scheduled to start. This can be
done online by sending the request to
democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or telephoning 01638
719237 or in person by telling the Committee Administrator
present at the meeting. We would urge anyone who wishes to
register to speak to notify Democratic Services by 9am on the
day of the meeting so that advice can be given on the
arrangements in place. There is an overall time limit of 15
minutes for public speaking, which may be extended at the
Chair’s discretion.

1-6

Pages
6.

Report of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee:
26 May 2022

7 - 16

Report number:
CAB/WS/22/026
Chair of the Committee: Councillor Ian Houlder
Portfolio holder: Councillor Sarah Broughton
Lead officer: Christine Brain

Non key decisions
7.

Street Lighting

17 - 38

Report number:
CAB/WS/22/027
Portfolio holder: Councillor Carol Bull
Lead officers: Alex Wilson and Jack Eddy
8.

Procurement Policy and Contract Procedure Rules

39 - 70

Report number:
CAB/WS/22/028
Portfolio holder: Councillor Sarah Broughton
Lead officers: Rachael Mann and Gregory Stevenson
9.

West Suffolk Workforce Strategy 2022 to 2028

71 - 92

Report number:
CAB/WS/22/029
Portfolio holder: Councillor Carol Bull
Lead officer: Jennifer Eves
10.

Annual Review and Appointment of the Cabinet's Joint
Committee, Panel and Other Working Groups

93 - 112

Report number:
CAB/WS/22/030
Portfolio holder: Councillor John Griffiths
Lead officers: Jennifer Eves and Teresa Halliday
11.

Decisions Plan: 1 June 2022 to 31 May 2023

113 - 136

To consider the most recently published version of the Cabinet’s
Decisions Plan
Report number:
CAB/WS/22/031
Portfolio holder: Councillor John Griffiths
Lead officer: Ian Gallin

Key decisions
12.

Revenues Collection Performance and Write-Offs
Report number:
CAB/WS/22/032
Portfolio holder: Councillor Sarah Broughton
Lead officer: Rachael Mann

137 - 140

Pages
13.

Exclusion of press and public
To consider whether the press and public should be excluded
during the consideration of the following items because it is
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or
the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were
present during the items, there would be disclosure to them of
exempt categories of information as prescribed in Part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and indicated
against each item and, in all circumstances of the case, the public
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information.

Part 2 - exempt
14.

Exempt Appendix 1: Revenues Collection Performance and
Write Offs (paragraphs 1 and 2)
Exempt Appendix 1 to Report number CAB/WS/22/032
Portfolio holder: Councillor Sarah Broughton
Lead officer: Rachael Mann
(This exempt Appendix is to be considered in private under
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
1972, as it contains information relating to an individual and
information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual)
(No representations have been received from members of the
public regarding this item being held in private.)

141 - 144

Pages

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

Cabinet
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Tuesday 26 April 2022 at 6.00 pm
in the Conference Chamber, West Suffolk House, Western Way, Bury St
Edmunds IP33 3YU
Present

Councillors
Chair John Griffiths (Leader of the Council)
Vice Chair Sara Mildmay-White (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Sarah Broughton
Carol Bull
Andy Drummond
Robert Everitt

Susan Glossop
Joanna Rayner
David Roach
Peter Stevens

By invitation
Stephen Frost

(Vice Chair of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee)

In attendance
Rachel Hood

(Vice Chair of the West Suffolk
Local Plan Working Group)

345. Welcome and introduction
The Chair opened the meeting and welcomed all persons present within the
Conference Chamber. He explained the rationale behind the precautionary
health and safety measures that remained in operation for this meeting which
aimed to reduce and restrict the transmission of the COVID-19 virus.

346. Apologies for absence
No apologies for absence were received.

347. Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 March 2022 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chair.

348. Declarations of interest
Members’ declarations of interest are recorded under the item to which the
declaration relates.

Page 1

CAB.WS.26.04.2022

349. Open forum
No non-Cabinet members in attendance wished to speak under this item.

350. Public participation
No members of the public in attendance had registered to speak.

351. Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 17 March 2022
(Report number: CAB/WS/22/017)

The Cabinet received and noted this report, which informed members of the
following substantive items considered by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee on 17 March 2022:
1. Response on Homes for Life and Ageing Population Housing Questions
2. Suffolk County Council Health Scrutiny Committee – 26 January 2022
3. Work programme update 2022
Councillor Stephen Frost, Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, drew relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet, including that
the Committee had agreed to convene an additional informal virtual meeting
to progress the ’20 mph zone’ topic that was currently on their work
programme. A representative from Suffolk County Council (SCC), as the
Highways Authority, would be in attendance to assist with the discussions.
In addition to thanking Councillor David Roach, Portfolio Holder for Planning,
for his excellent presentation to the Committee on the ‘Homes for Life and
Ageing Population - Housing’ topic, Councillor Frost drew attention to the
Committee’s discussions on potential methods to discourage and prevent
anti-idling, as set out in paragraph 2.3.4 of the report.
In response, the Chair explained that the Council, with SCC and other
partners, was actively looking at ways to improve and promote better air
quality in West Suffolk in general, which coincided with the Council’s
commitment to tackling climate change and mitigating adverse impacts on
the environment. The Committee was thanked for the work it had
undertaken to date on this issue.

352. Report of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint

Committee: 1 March 2022 (Report number: CAB/WS/22/018)
The Cabinet received and noted this report, which informed members of the
following substantive items considered by the Anglia and Revenues and
Benefits Joint Committee on 1 March 2022:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Performance Report
Welfare Reform Update
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) Financial Performance 2021 to 2022
Verification Policy
Forthcoming Issues
Exempt Item: Partnership Working through Section 113 Agreement

Page 2

CAB.WS.26.04.2022

Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Property,
drew relevant issues to the attention of Cabinet, including that it was
expected that payments of the Government’s £150 Council Tax Energy
Rebate grant were expected to be distributed from 29 April 2022 to eligible
persons that paid their council tax by direct debit where data matched, and
where a successful direct debit had already been taken from April’s council
tax payments. Payments to be made to eligible persons under the
discretionary rebate grant scheme, would be made at a later date. ARP were
congratulated for their outstanding work regarding the administration and
operation of the schemes.
Councillor Sara Mildmay-White, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for
Housing and Strategic Health, provided an update on Discretionary Housing
Payments that had been distributed to eligible persons in West Suffolk over
the last two years. She explained that year-on-year reductions in grant
funding had been received from Government and this was likely to continue
into 2023. The Housing team was working closely with ARP, SCC and other
partners to mitigate the impact on those affected, particularly given the
added pressures following the current increases in fuel and energy prices,
and the cost of living in general. Councillor Mildmay-White was joined by
Cabinet in thanking the teams for their tireless efforts in this regard.

353. West Suffolk Local Plan Preferred Options consultation (Report
number: CAB/WS/22/019)

(Councillor Sarah Broughton declared a pecuniary interest as she and her
husband owned a parcel of land within an area in Great Barton identified
within the West Suffolk Local Plan Preferred Options consultation document.
She left the meeting during the consideration of this item and did not return,
and therefore, she did not take part in the debate or the vote.
Councillors Broughton, Griffiths and Mildmay-White declared local nonpecuniary interest as appointed shareholder representatives of Barley Homes
(Group) Ltd. Councillors Griffiths and Mildmay-White remained in the meeting
for the consideration of the item and voted (Councillor Broughton had already
declared a separate pecuniary interest and had left the meeting.))
The Cabinet considered this report, which was recommending to Council,
approval of the West Suffolk Local Plan Preferred Options document, for the
purposes of public consultation.
The West Suffolk Local Plan would cover the period up to 2040. Upon
adoption it would set out the Council’s policies to address housing and
employment needs and other associated economic, social and environmental
priorities.
It was an important tool in supporting delivery of West Suffolk Council’s
strategic priorities and essential for the continuation of an effective planning
service. In addition, the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004),
required local planning authorities to prepare and keep an up-to-date local
plan.

Page 3

CAB.WS.26.04.2022

The Preferred Options document (Appendix A) represented the next stage of
the plan making process. It was proposed to consult on the Preferred Options
Local Plan and supporting documents for eight-plus weeks from Thursday 26
May to Tuesday 26 July 2022.
Appendix A was divided into three parts, namely:
Part One: strategic policies
Part Two: non strategic policies
Part Three: site allocations
A summary of the content of each part was detailed in paragraph 2.2 of the
report.
Councillor David Roach, Portfolio Holder for Planning, drew relevant issues to
the attention of Cabinet, including that, subject to Council approval, it was
important to note that the plan was still evolving, and no firm decisions had
been made at this stage. The Council would continue to gather evidence
throughout the local plan preparation and this consultation was an important
aspect of this. Therefore, this was not what the final plan would look like.
The response received from this consultation would help shape the next
version of the local plan. That version would be the document which the
Council proposed to submit for examination to the Planning Inspectorate and
would be subject to a further round of consultation prior to its submission.
Councillor Roach made specific reference to the work undertaken on the
Employment Land Review. Emphasis was placed on the fact that gathering
the evidence base for this element of the local plan was still ongoing and
evolving.
It had been brought to the Council’s attention that there was an omission in
the Employment Land Review that was published in December 2021. The
Jockey club were listed in the document having been surveyed as a
stakeholder when they had not been.
The Council had responded to this error, and the consultants had now
undertaken a survey with the Jockey Club. Following this survey, they had
produced an addendum that would be published alongside the Employment
Land Review (ELR). It should be noted that the ELR was a pure employment
needs document – looking at office, industrial and distribution services.
The Horse Racing Industry Cluster, given their special character and special
nature of the industry, was different and required special protection. The
Council now had a Memorandum of Co-operation in place with the Horse
Racing Industry and the Council would work with them on the evidence that
was needed to consider their specific needs.
Councillor Roach added that use of the text ‘Preferred Options’ within local
plan-related documentation was specific planning terminology, which was
formally recognised as part of the stages required to develop the new local
plan.

Page 4

CAB.WS.26.04.2022

In response to questions, the Cabinet was informed that:




Policies emanating from the emerging local plan would not be given weight
as material planning considerations until the examination stage of the local
plan development process. This was therefore a paramount consideration
when making decisions on planning applications.
The principal methods by which the proposed consultation would be
undertaken were set out in paragraph 4.4 of the report. This would include
a mix of ‘in person’ and virtual events. The consultation dates, including
those where ‘in person’ events would be held, would not be published until
approval has been given by Council to proceed.

Councillor Roach placed his thanks on record for the outstanding work of
relevant officers and the West Suffolk Local Plan Working Group for their
excellent contributions in reaching this significant stage of the local plan
development process. These sentiments were echoed by his Cabinet
colleagues, which included adding their thanks to Councillor Roach for his lead
role in the process.
Recommended to Council: (17 May 2022)
That:
1.

The West Suffolk Local Plan Preferred Options (Regulation 18)
document, as contained in Appendix A to Report number:
CAB/WS/22/019, together with supporting documents, be
approved for the purposes of public consultation.

2.

Delegated authority be given to the Director (Planning and
Growth), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning to
make minor non-material consequential changes to the
documents, as necessary.

354. West Suffolk Local Plan Preferred Options consultation - Appendix A:
Part One - Strategic Policies (Report number: CAB/WS/22/019)
See minute 353. above.

355. West Suffolk Local Plan Preferred Options consultation - Appendix A:

Part Two - Non Strategic Policies (Report number: CAB/WS/22/019)
See minute 353. above.

356. West Suffolk Local Plan Preferred Options consultation - Appendix A:
Part Three - Site Allocations (Report number: CAB/WS/22/019)
See minute 353. above.

357. Decisions Plan: 1 April 2022 to 31 May 2023
The Cabinet considered this report which was the Cabinet Decisions Plan
covering the period 1 April 2022 to 31 May 2023.

Page 5

CAB.WS.26.04.2022

Members took the opportunity to review the intended forthcoming decisions
of the Cabinet; however, no further information or amendments were
requested on this occasion.
The meeting concluded at 6.32 pm
Signed by:

Chair

Page 6

CAB.WS.26.04.2022

Agenda Item 6

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/026

Report of the Performance
and Audit Scrutiny
Committee: 26 May 2022
Report number:

CAB/WS/22/026

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor Sarah Broughton
Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Property
Telephone: 07929 305787
Email: sarah.broughton@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Chair of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee:

Councillor Ian Houlder
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
Telephone: 07597 961069
Email: ian.houlder@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Christine Brain
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)
Telephone: 01638 719729
Email: christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

This item is not required to be included on the
Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All wards.

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Report number:
CAB/WS/22/026, being the report of the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee, be
noted.

21 June 2022

Page 7

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/026

1.

Context to this report

1.1

On 26 May 2022, the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
considered the following items:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Internal Audit Annual Report (2021 to 2022)
Outline Internal Audit Plan (2022 to 2023)
CIPFA Financial Management Code
Health and Safety Summary Report 2021 to 2022
Annual Re-Appointments to the Financial Resilience Sub-Committee
and the Health and Safety Sub-Committee (2022 to 2023)
6. Work Programme Update 2022 to 2023
7. 2021 to 2022 Performance Report (Quarter 4)
2.

Proposals within this report

2.1

Internal Audit Annual Report (2021 to 2022) (Report number:
PAS/WS/22/005)

2.1.1

The annual audit opinion attached at Appendix A to the report was split
into four constituent elements of governance; risk; internal control and
financial control with a specific conclusion draw on each, as well as the
direction of travel.

2.1.2

The council also recognised that fraud, theft and corruption was an everpresent threat to the resources available in the public sector. Appendix B
demonstrated West Suffolk’s progress in developing and maintaining an
anti-fraud and anti-corruption culture and publicised the action taken
where fraud or misconduct had been identified.

2.1.3

The Committee considered the report in detail and asked questions to
which responses were provided. In particular discussions were held on the
fee audit work and whether the price was comparative; revenues and
benefits fraud; the implementation of the new cash system; claims to the
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities; the language
used in the report; and the difference between reasonable and good
relating to “risk”.

2.1.4

In response to a question raised on what control issues were affecting
“risk”, officers agreed to provide a written response to the Committee.

2.1.5

The Committee noted the Internal Audit Annual Report 2021-2022,
attached at Appendix A and the Annual Fraud Report 2021-2022,
attached at Appendix B to Report No: PAS/WS/22/005.

Page 8

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/026
2.2

Outline Internal Audit Report (2022 to 2023) (Report number:
PAS/WS/22/006)

2.2.1

This report provided details on the proposed 2022-2023 Audit Plan. The
proposed Audit Plan, attached at Appendix B to the report was a riskbased plan of work for the internal audit team, which took into account
the need to produce an annual internal audit opinion for the council which
concludes on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s
framework of governance, risk management and internal control.

2.2.2

The Committee considered the report and suggested that in relation to
Appendix B, Corporate and business area audits (IT Audit) that the council
also considers speaking with stakeholders as well.

2.2.3

The Committee considered the report and approved the Internal Audit
Plan for 2022 to 2023.

2.3

CIFA Financial Management Code (Report number:
PAS/WS/22/007)

2.3.1

The Committee received details on the CIPFA Financial Management Code
(FM Code), published in October 2019, which provide guidance for good
and sustainable financial management in local authorities and will provide
assurance that authorities are managing resources effectively. The FM
Code requires authorities to demonstrate that the processes they have in
place satisfy the principles of good financial management. CIPFA’s
intention is that the FM Code will have the same scope as the Prudential
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities, which promotes the financial
sustainability of local authority capital expenditure and associated
borrowing. Although the FM Code does not have legislative backing, it
applies to all local authorities, including police, fire, combined and other
authorities.

2.3.2

Paragraphs 2.3 to 2.11 of the report set out the key points of the FM Code.
As a first step towards ensuring the council meets the FM Code, the Chief
Finance Officer produced a draft initial self-assessment against the FM
Code, which was attached as Appendix A to the report. The selfassessment will be continually reviewed and refined on an ongoing basis,
to ensure standards are maintained and any actions are implemented.

2.3.3

The Committee considered the report in detail and asked questions to
which responses were provided. In particular discussions were held on
peer reviews; whether the self-assessment was recognised by the council’s
external auditors and whether the self-assessment would be included in
the council’s audit plan for 2022-2023.

2.3.4

The Committee noted the key points of the CIPFA Financial Management
Code as set out in paragraphs 2.3 to 2.11, and the initial self-assessment

Page 9

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/026
of compliance with the Code, the associated actions arising to ensure full
compliance and next steps as detailed in Appendix A to Report number
PAS/WS/22/007.
2.4

Health and Safety Summary Report 2021 to 2022 (Report number:
PAS/WS/22/008)

2.4.1

The Committee received and noted the above report which summarised
the work carried out by the Health and Safety Sub-Committee during
2021-2022.

2.4.2

The Health and Safety summary report attached at Appendix A was
produced to identify and document West Suffolk Council’s health and
safety performance and work carried out during the year to ensure legal
compliance.

2.4.3

The Committee considered the report and asked questions. In particular
discussions were held on whether the council was still providing covid tests
for staff and whether there were any plans to improve the take-up of the
e-module learning modules.

2.5

Annual Re-Appointments to the Financial Resilience SubCommittee and the Health and Safety Sub-Committee (2022 to
2023) (Report number: PAS/WS/22/009)

2.5.1

The Committee received the above report, which sought appointments to
the Financial Resilience Sub-Committee and the Health and Safety SubCommittee. The Committee was asked to:

2.5.2

1)

Recommend three members and one substitute member from the
membership of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee to sit
on the Financial Resilience Sub-Committee for the remainder of 20222023; and

2)

Recommend six members and two substitute members from the
membership of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee to sit
on the Health and Safety Sub-Committee for the remainder of 20222023.

At the conclusion of the discussions the following nominations were put
forward and Resolved as follows:
Financial Resilience Sub-Committee
-

Councillors Ian Houlder and Elaine McManus (Conservative Group)
wished to continue to serve as full members on the Sub-Committee.

Page 10

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/026
-

Councillor Victor Lukaniuk (The Independent Group) wished to
continue to serve as a full member on the Sub-Committee.

-

Councillor Robert Nobbs (Conservative Group) wished to continue to
serve as the substitute on the Sub-Committee.

Health and Safety Sub-Committee
-

Councillors Nick Clarke, Ian Houlder, Elaine McManus and Robert
Nobbs (Conservative Group) wished to continue as the full members
on the Sub-Committee.

-

Councillor Cliff Waterman (Labour Group) wished to continue to
serve as a full member on the Sub-Committee

-

Councillor Andy Neal (Independent Group) wished to continue to
service as a full member on the Sub-Committee.

-

Councillor James Lay (Conservative Group) and Councillor Phil
Wittam (Independent Group) wished to continue to service as the
substitute members on the Sub-Committee.

2.6

Work programme update 2022 to 2023 (Report number:
PAS/WS/22/010)

2.6.1

The Committee received Report number PAS/WS/22/010, which provided
information on the current status of its forward work programme for 2022
to 2023.

2.6.2

West Suffolk’s external auditors Ernst and Young (EY) have confirmed to
officers that the West Suffolk external audit of the 2021 to 2022 Statement
of Accounts is scheduled to take place week commencing 17 October to
week commencing 21 November 2022.
Following the audit period, EY will need time to produce their final report
and audit opinion so it is considered extremely unlikely that the November
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee meeting date will be met.

2.6.3

It was therefore proposed that an additional committee meeting is held on
Wednesday 14 December 2022, specifically to consider the Statement of
Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and Report to those Charged with
Governance from EY (their audit findings and opinion report).

2.6.3

The Committee noted the contents of its forward work programme and the
additional meeting scheduled for Wednesday 14 December 2022.

Page 11

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/026
2.7

2021 to 2022 Performance Report – Quarter 4 (Report number:
PAS/WS/22/011)

2.7.1

The Committee received Report number PAS/WS/22/011, which set out
the impact of Covid-19, the Quarter 4 performance and the 2021 to 2022
revenue and capital positions.

2.7.2

Since the outbreak of Covid-19 in the UK, a number of events had
occurred which had had a significant impact on West Suffolk Council’s
financial position. Some of these had been restrictions imposed by
Government that had affected West Suffolk Council’s investments and
services; and others had been announcements of Government financial
support.

2.7.3

The Council has played its part in responding to Covid-19 in supporting
businesses and the most vulnerable as well as running essential services.
The returns to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing, Communities
have detailed the financial impacts of Covid-19, and generally the forecast
impacts have remained consistent on a month-by-month basis. The latest
submission covering the period from April 2021 to March 2022 shows a
total impact of £3.8m (costs of £1.2m and lost income of £2.6m).
However, it should be noted that these are required to be gross figures and
therefore an element of the additional costs such as internal staff
redeployment and costs savings have also been factored into the figures.

2.7.4

Covid-19 and our response to it has consequently impacted on a number of
our local performance indicators, most noticeably around housing and
homelessness, income indicators and our aged debt amount. Within these
figures, the income generated by the council in the current financial year
through sales, fees and charges has reduced by £2.6m, mitigated to a
certain extent by the sales, fees and charges compensation from central
government. (Further details of the financial impacts of Covid-19 can be
found in Appendix B).

2.7.5

The level of debt over 90 days has been a focus for management during
the year. Quarter 4 data shows that this now stands at a total of
£1,104,724. This is an increase of £126,480 on the Quarter 3 figures.
Commercial Property debt made up £701,446 (63.5%) of this position and
£491,169 of this debt relates to just three tenants. We are continuing to
work very closely with all our tenants to clear outstanding rent arrears.
Exempt Appendix F shows the split of the Aged Debt by service area and
a split of the commercial property debt.

2.7.6

The impact of Covid-19 is likely to be felt for years to come as the council
continues to make provision in 2022 to 2023 for the impact on recovery to
pre-covid income and expenditure levels.

Page 12

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/026
2.7.7

Attached to the Quarter 4 performance and year-end-financial outturn
position for 2021 to 2022 were a number of appendices as follows:
-

2.7.8

Appendix A: Key Performance Indicator Dashboards
Appendix B: Income and expenditure report
Appendix C: Capital Programme
Appendix D: Earmarked reserves
Appendix E: Strategic Risk Register
EXEMPT Appendix F – Aged debt over 90 days

The Chief Executive introduced the new dynamic interactive performance
dashboard, and set out the new approach to performance management,
which was about:
-

Achieving clarity around governance arrangements, with indicators
being set and owned by Cabinet and Portfolio Holders.

-

Driving performance and the medium-term financial strategy.

-

Reporting indicators more frequently to Cabinet and the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee.

-

Having the ability to invite Portfolio Holders to meetings of the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee.

-

Refreshing the indicator settings to focus more on areas which were
important.

-

Moving away from targets and replacing with trends.

-

Removing the old RAG rating because the direction of travel was
being ignored.

-

Including more benchmarking, with some contextual indicators.

2.7.9

Members welcomed the change to using trends, and the new dashboard
system. Members then considered the report in detail and asked questions
of officers, to which responses were provided. In particular discussions
were held on inviting Portfolio Holders to meetings of Performance and
Audit, vacant shops, the solar farm and the amount of energy produced,
inflation rates, continuing low interest rates available, aged debt and the
strategic risk register and suggested including how the direction of travel
has changed.

2.7.10

At the conclusion of the discussions, the Committee noted the:
-

Impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s current financial year 2021 to
2022.

Page 13

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/026
-

2021 to 2022 Revenue and Capital positions, as detailed in the report
and appendices.

3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

Please see background papers.

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

Please see background papers.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

Please see background papers.

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

Financial:
Please see background papers.

6.2

Equalities:
Please see background papers.

7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Please see background papers.

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

Report number: PAS/WS/22/005 and Appendix A and Appendix B to the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: Internal Audit Annual Report
(2021 to 2022)

8.2

Report number: PAS/WS/22/006 and Appendix A and Appendix B to the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: Outline Internal Audit Plan
(2022 to 2023)

8.3

Report number: PAS/WS/22/007 and Appendix A to the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee: CIPFA Financial Management Code

Page 14

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/026
8.4

Report number: PAS/WS/22/008 and Appendix A to the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee: Annual Report from the Health and Safety
Sub-Committee

8.5

Report number: PAS/WS/22/009 and Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 to the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee: Annual Re-Appointments to
the Financial Resilience Sub-Committee and the Health and Safety SubCommittee (2022 to 2023)

8.6

Report number: PAS/WS/22/010 and Appendix 1 to the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee: Work Programme Update 2022 to 2023

8.7

Report number: PAS/WS/22/011 and Appendix A, Appendix B, Appendix C,
Appendix D and Appendix E and Exempt Appendix F to the Performance
and Audit Scrutiny Committee: 2021 to 2022 Performance Report
(Quarter 4)

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027

Street Lighting
Report number:

CAB/WS/22/027

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor Carol Bull
Portfolio Holder for Governance
Tel: 01953 681513
Email: carol.bull@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officers:

Alex Wilson
Strategic Director
Tel: 01284 757695
Email: alex.wilson@westsuffolk.gov.uk

21 June 2022

Jack Eddy
Policy Business Partner
Tel: 01284 757223
Email: jack.eddy@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Decisions Plan:

The decision made as a result of this report will
usually be published within 48 hours and cannot be
actioned until five clear working days of the
publication of the decision have elapsed. This item is
included on the Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All Wards

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Cabinet:
1.

Approves the draft vision, scope and guiding
principles for the proposed 2023-24 review of
West Suffolk Council’s relationship with town
and parish councils as set out in section 2.1 of
this report;

2.

Pending a more detailed audit, notes the initial
analysis of the disposition of street lighting in

Page 17

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
West Suffolk contained in section 2.2 of this
report; and
3.

Approves the next steps for working with
Suffolk County Council and town and parish
councils on a review of street lighting in West
Suffolk as set out in section 2.3 of this report.

Page 18

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027

1.

Context to this report

1.1

The majority of street lights in West Suffolk are owned and maintained by
Suffolk County Council as highway authority. However, West Suffolk
Council (WSC) has the power to provide lighting as a local authority, acting
with the consent of the Highways Authority via the powers conferred by
the Highways Act 1980. Town and parish councils have similar powers for
their areas.

1.2

It was indicated at the council meeting in February 2022 that, following the
delay caused by the response to the pandemic, Cabinet intends to carry
out the planned review of West Suffolk Council’s future relationship with
town and parish councils after the 2023 elections. This report gives more
information on the proposed scope for that long-term review.

1.3

However, in response to concerns raised, and ahead of that main review,
Cabinet has also indicated that it will look at the ownership and future
management of street lights in West Suffolk during 2022-23, including
those owned by parish and town councils. This report also provides
background to that interim review and proposes how it will be taken
forward in the remainder of the municipal year and in the context of that
wider review.

1.4

The report is therefore broken down into three parts:
a.

A draft scope for the 2023-24 review of West Suffolk Council’s
relationship with town and parish councils.

b.

A brief examination of the current ownership and management of
lights in West Suffolk, and

c.

Proposals for a process to review the future management of street
lighting in West Suffolk which aims to improve the consistency,
efficiency and effectiveness of this service.

2.

Proposals within this report

2.1

Review of future relationship with town and parish councils

2.1.1

It was always intended to carry out a review of how the new West Suffolk
Council will interact with town and parish councils after its creation in
2019. This was delayed by the response to the pandemic and will now take
place from 2023 onwards to allow the discussions to take place after the
May elections in that year.

2.1.2

The original objective for the review, contained in the business case for the
new West Suffolk Council, was that the creation of the new authority would
present an opportunity to put in place new ways of working including:

Page 19

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
“making sure things are done at the right level (subsidiarity), including a
greater role for town and parish councils in truly local matters.” This crossrefers to the Council’s Strategic Plan which highlights the importance of
place focus and subsidiarity. In particular, the need to find: “Distinctively
local not generic solutions that are shaped and delivered locally and reflect
the different challenges and opportunities of West Suffolk’s places…We will
also take account of the various roles and ambitions of local organisations,
including town and parish councils.”
2.1.3

At this stage, the scope of the proposed review would be to examine all
options for greater involvement of town and parish councils in what are, in
some areas, currently district functions, services or facilities. This will be
based on collective and individual dialogue with town and parish councils
with proposals formed following that engagement. However, to frame that
process and enable all parties to prepare, it would be helpful to define, in
draft, a vision and some guiding principles for the process.

2.1.4

It is therefore proposed that the draft overall vision for the process is:
To encourage and manage growth in prosperity and quality of life for all in
West Suffolk, and in particular (but in no ranked order) that:
1. The capacity of the town and parish council will be central to the
consideration of future options.
2. The review will always be underpinned by the West Suffolk Families and
Communities approach.
3. Any new arrangement must offer value for money for local taxpayers.
4. Discussions will draw on and respect the relative strengths and assets
of each party.
5. Each place is different, and each conversation is unique. This may also
mean that the delivery model chosen could differ between places.
6. Conversations will balance the principle of subsidiarity (delivering
services at the right level) with the principles of efficiency, economy
and effective accountability.
7. We are working in an environment of constant change so any changes
will need to be flexible and may not necessarily be permanent. West
Suffolk Council is open to options for piloting approaches, and for timelimited approaches.
8. Future arrangements must support equality of opportunity and access
for all local residents, businesses and community groups.

2.1.5

If the above draft is adopted, the Leader of the Council will, as part of
forming a new Cabinet after the May 2023 elections, be asked to confirm
the portfolio holder to lead the review and work will commence in late
spring or early summer 2023. However, there is nothing to prevent
individual town and parish councils approaching West Suffolk Council in the
meantime with any feedback on the above principles or to suggest issues
for examination in their area.

Page 20

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
2.2

Current responsibility for Street Lights in West Suffolk
Context for review

2.2.1

This review has been started due to concerns raised in 2021 that West
Suffolk Council maintains a large number of street lights in the area that
was formerly St Edmundsbury Borough (SEBC), but very few in the area
that was formerly Forest Heath District (FHDC). Just over 1500 and 200
respectively. In contrast, parish and town councils in the former FHDC
area, maintain a large number of street lights compared to their former
SEBC counterparts. Just over 2000 compared to virtually none.

2.2.2

However, as this report will show, these disparities cannot be looked at in
isolation, but have to be viewed in the context of the pattern of ownership
of all street lights. The majority of lighting in the district is actually the
responsibility of the county council, especially where linked to the highway
(the county council maintains all lighting on A and B roads for instance).
Historically, parish, town and district councils then added their own lights
or took on responsibility for certain lights. These additional lights may have
still been in relation to the highway but might also have been on footpaths
or related to assets such as car parks (public and for former council
housing), garage areas, bus stations, parks, monuments, and so on. For
this reason, of the 70,000 street lights in Suffolk as a whole, it is estimated
that over 10,500 are owned by district, town and parish councils and
housing associations.

2.2.3

There are also disparities at town and parish level within the two former
district areas of West Suffolk – please see 2.2.16 (a) below for examples.
All of which will make it far harder to review than just examining
disparities in a specific tier of local government in a specific part of West
Suffolk. Instead, it is likely to be more effective in the first instance to ask
more fundamental questions about the management of street lights. These
questions, and the recommendations in this report that stem from them,
are the focus of the following section of this report (section 2.3).
Background information on light ownership

2.2.4

Before exploring the local situation in more detail, it is important to set the
scene. Namely that, for reasons of history, local circumstance and choice,
there is no consistent pattern of street lighting in the UK. This is echoed by
the disparities that have developed in Suffolk, from current and former
district-to-district and between parishes even if the same former district
areas.

2.2.5

This situation can partly be explained by the various legal duties around
the provision of lights and many overlapping levels of jurisdiction and
responsibility (see Appendix A). However, it also requires an understanding
of the decisions of local authorities, often down to parish level and taken
many decades ago. This report does not seek to provide that historical
picture in any detail. This is partly due to the difficulty in tracking down

Page 21

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
that historical information, but mainly because the intention is not for the
review to be backward-looking.
2.2.6

Historical decisions aside, there are however two very recent changes that
affected the number of street lights which West Suffolk Council (WSC)
inherited in 2019 and need to be taken into account when analysing the
current data:
a.

In the early 2000s, SEBC and FHDC both transferred their housing
stocks to registered social landlords. How these decisions impacted on
street lighting, and if they resulted in any substantive differences
between the two areas, is still under investigation. However, it is
worth recording that, in the former FHDC area, a small amount of the
lighting in the scope of this review (over 100 units) is owned by a
housing association (Flagship). Whereas, in the former SEBC area, this
does not seem to be the case in terms of lights recorded in the SCC
database.

b.

In 2016, SEBC upgraded most of its own street lighting assets (see
background papers). This was: to enable approximately half to be
adopted by the Suffolk County Council Highways Authority (SCC),
thereby terminating future responsibility for the ongoing repair,
maintenance and energy consumption of those units; and to reduce
the cost of powering and maintaining the residual assets. This decision
resulted in the upgrade of 3,027 street lighting assets across the
former Borough. In turn, this enabled 1,547 units to be transferred to
the Highway Authority and reduced the costs of maintenance and
power for the 1,481 lights that were retained by SEBC at that time.
The capital cost of this work came to £1,810,000, reducing annual
revenue costs by approximately £157,000 per year (old prices). The
201 lights then owned by FHDC were also reviewed as part of the
same process with SCC. However, it was not concluded that there was
a strong business case to upgrade them all at that time because they
were generally in a reasonable condition and, since they were spaced
infrequently and generally located in car parking areas, they did not
meet the criteria for adoption by SCC.

2.2.7

Taking these two changes into account, in 2019 WSC inherited just over
1500 lights from SEBC compared to just over 200 from FHDC. Even
allowing for the gearing in the sizes of the former councils (around 2:1), it
is therefore clear that each took a very different approach to lighting
during the period 1974 to 2019. And, most likely, they also inherited
disparities in local provision when they themselves were formed in 1974.

2.2.8

This disparity also has to be set in the context of other local differences in
asset ownership, service levels and income generation between the two
former districts and also within them. There are, for instance, other service
areas where all West Suffolk residents are now paying for things delivered
in the former FHDC but not the former SEBC (as well as vice-versa). For
example, footpath liabilities that were not part of housing stock transfer in

Page 22

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
the former FHDC area and are now the responsibility of WSC. Whereas, in
contrast, these paths were in the main transferred to the housing
association in the former SEBC areas.
2.2.9

These differences, which are far outweighed by what the two former
council areas have in common, were inevitable when West Suffolk Council
was formed and, in general, there is some balancing out alongside the
wider benefits the single council brings. However, in creating the new
authority, it was also recognised there needs to be a larger piece of work
to look at these anomalies, alongside a wider review of how the two tiers
of local government work together. Hence the wider review planned for
2023-24.
Disposition of street lighting in West Suffolk

2.2.10

This review of lighting has been greatly assisted by detailed information
kindly provided by SCC and also by Mildenhall High Town Council (as a
sample parish). The following analysis, however, needs to be treated with
a degree of caution and will benefit from a more detailed audit, as set out
in the recommendations. For instance, the ownership of around 60 street
lights is unknown and it is possible some local lights are not recorded in
the central lists held by SCC. Similarly, the data for WSC is slightly skewed
by operational assets such as car parks, bus stations, parks and
monuments which are mainly concentrated in towns.

2.2.11

With that caveat it is estimated that, of over 20,000 lights in total, nearly
4,000 street lights in West Suffolk are not owned by Suffolk County Council
(SCC), so are a combination of district and parish and town council and
registered social landlord (RSL) owned instead1. These 4,000 non-SCC
lights are broken down in the chart below.

Suffolk County Council do still maintain a lot of these lights under service contracts with the
owners. This is why there is a lot of data on the location of lighting in some parishes.
1

Page 23

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027

2.2.12

The perceived inequality is that over 2,300 non-SCC lights are in former
FHDC, with the largest number (around 2,000) being run by parish
councils. In comparison, around 1,500 lights are estimated to be in former
SEBC, of which only one can currently be shown to be run by a parish
council in the available data.

2.2.13

Breaking this down by parish, other historical differences emerge in how
non-SCC lights are owned. As can be seen in the chart below, Mildenhall
and Brandon town councils have significantly more lighting under their
jurisdiction at parish level than anywhere else. This isn’t explained by their
population or geography (both smaller in comparison to Newmarket). WSC
also maintains a higher quantity – both in terms of number and proportion
– of lights in Newmarket than anywhere else in the former FHDC.

Page 24

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027

2.2.14

But this does not mean that there are more lights in Brandon or Mildenhall
overall. Generally speaking the number of street lights in any part of West
Suffolk is broadly proportionate to its size as a place. The apparent
disparity exists because the data above is only part of the picture for street
lighting.

2.2.15

When taking into account all lights (SCC included), a fuller picture emerges
in terms of where any disparities actually lie. The chart below shows
ownership of lights in a small sample of parish and town council areas in
former SEBC and FHDC to illustrate the overall pattern. This analysis is
shown in terms of the proportion different organisations own. So clearly,
the actual number of lights in a small rural parish like Hepworth is very
small in relation to a large town like Haverhill. But showing the data like
this is important in the context of examining whether inequalities exist.

Page 25

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027

2.2.16

Analysis:
a.

As can be seen above, Newmarket and Tuddenham St Mary show that
there are also disparities within the former district areas as well as
between them. The fact these two parishes appear to be outliers in
the sample of former FHDC parishes suggests that the conditions that
led to parishes not having responsibility for some categories of lights
were always met in SEBC and only sometimes in FHDC.

b.

In both former districts, there are places where SCC provides over
80% of the lights compared to WSC and towns and parishes. And
places that they don’t. This is a disparity in the pattern of ownership
and would appear to indicate that, across the two former districts, it
was always the case that there were places where the principal
authorities (but especially SCC) provided well over 80 or 90% of the
lights. Contrasted with other places, all in FHDC, where the parishes
have provided between half and two-thirds.

c.

Across the whole of the former FHDC and in Haverhill and Bury St
Edmunds, WSC’s ownership as a proportion of all lights is fairly
consistent (ranging between 2% and 7% in the sample above). The
transfer of around 1500 lights in 2016 to SCC will not have
significantly affected this broad pattern. For instance, there are over
6,000 lights in total in Bury St Edmunds alone. Moreover, this transfer
was between the two principal authorities, not involving parishes.
Similarly, this doesn’t explain why former SEBC parishes provide so
few lights in comparison to FHDC parishes.

Page 26

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
d.

By percentage, the main disparity in WSC’s ownership relates to the
rural area (including the town of Clare). In the rural parts of the
former SEBC, it owns a large proportion of the lights alongside SCC,
ranging from 40% to 80% in the sample above (albeit in relation to
relatively small numbers of lights in each individual parish area but
still making up a significant proportion of WSC’s overall ownership). In
contrast, a rural parish in the former FHDC can often own over half of
the lights in its area (although not universally as Tuddenham St Mary
shows).

2.2.17

What this initial high-level study reveals is that any disparity in the
ownership of street lights has a far wider context and can’t be addressed in
isolation. Furthermore, given the issues with the datasets used, it is
essential to gather more data from parishes to take this review forward.
With any subsequent conversation about WSC’s role then to be linked to
the wider town and parish council review in 2023-24 and SCC’s role as
Highway Authority.

2.3

Scope for street lighting review and recommended way
forward

2.3.1

Before any discussion about future responsibility for lights, there are a
number of fundamental issues that first need to be addressed:
a.
b.
c.

2.3.2

This in turn can be broken down into several specific questions:
a.

b.
c.

2.3.3

the costs involved in administering lights
the expected increase in costs given the energy crisis, and
the best way to provide lighting in the future.

Why were the lights originally installed where they were? Can we
examine whether all of the lights are still relevant to the local
community’s needs in 2022 (not least as some are costly to retain or
replace)?
If the lights are still relevant, can they be upgraded to Light Emitting
Diode (LED) to make them cheaper and greener to run? Are there any
economies of scale in that upgrade process?
Are there further opportunities to incorporate any upgraded lights into
Suffolk County Council’s central management system which allows
different settings for individual lights to balance efficiency with safety?

Taking these questions in turn, we can shape the scope and
recommendations for the first phase of work. And, as a common thread, it
can already be seen that more information and engagement will be a
prerequisite for all of the work.

Page 27

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
What is the context and jurisdiction for the lights?
2.3.4

As explained above, there is no evidence that any part of West Suffolk is
relatively under or over-lit compared to other places but, through an audit
of lights with parishes, it may be possible to identify lights that are no
longer required in the context of their original installation or adding value
in safety terms.

2.3.5

It may also be useful to distinguish between ‘normal’ street-lighting by the
highway and lighting that is used only for footpaths, garage areas, and so
on. Particularly if we want to explore further if disparities exist regarding
responsibility for lights by the highway (see section 2.2).

2.3.6

As explained in Appendix A, lighting that is not part of the highway and
therefore is not regulated by the county council as highway authority –
such as footway lighting or garage lighting – is the sole responsibility of
the local lighting authority, which they can administer without regulatory
oversight. In this instance, the local lighting authority can be a district or
parish council.

2.3.7

This is important to note for two reasons:

2.3.8

a.

Not all the lights on footpaths and around garages may still be
needed, and therefore some might, if there was local agreement, be
removed by the parish or district council.

b.

Lighting that is highway related and not covering footpaths, garages,
council car parks, bus stations and parks, and so on may require a
conversation with the highway authority about ongoing relevance or
jurisdiction (where this has not already taken place in relation to the
earlier upgrade programme).

As such, it is important to establish accurately the proportion of nonhighway lighting being provided by parish and town councils in West
Suffolk. Using only text searches, it is evident that garage and footpath
lighting could be a significant proportion of the non-SCC lights. But
benefiting from local knowledge (as well as auditing the residual WSC
lights again) would definitely be a useful exercise to inform the
conversations envisaged in para 2.3.7.
Can the lights be upgraded?

2.3.9

As set out in the background paper to this report, SEBC upgraded the bulk
of its street lighting to LED just over five years ago as part of county-wide
programme. This means that another point of interest is how many of the
town and parish and housing association lights are LED. Data kindly shared
by Mildenhall High Town Council suggests the proportion could be low.
However, only through a thorough investigation of all parishes will it be
possible to acquire an accurate figure. WSC itself also has several hundred
inherited lights which are not yet LED.

Page 28

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
2.3.10

This is important because the type of lighting has a very big bearing on
costs of operation as well as carbon emissions. Appendix B provides more
information on the types of lighting. In summary, LEDs are a more efficient
light than the traditional sodium lights and can reduce costs in energy and
maintenance by around 75%, based on the experience of SCC in
converting over 20,000 lights to date. This is also in the context of energy
prices rising by a similar amount over the last year. In addition, a number
of lamp types including MBFU (mercury) and low-pressure sodium (SOX)
are no longer manufactured in accordance with modern standards. As
such, these lights can no longer be maintained and may need to be
converted to LED in any event. SCC has already highlighted this in its
annual letters to asset owners whose lights it maintains.

2.3.11

Upgrading lights is not cheap even if the return on investment may be
relatively high (and increasing due to rising energy costs). SEBC spent
over £1.8m to upgrade over 3000 lights in 2016, and recent estimates
suggest this average cost per light will still be over £6002. As such, the
cost of conversion for all the parish and town owned lights in the former
FHDC area could easily cost over £1m in total (split pro-rata between
parishes). WSC will also need to consider the cost of upgrading any of its
own lights that are still not LED.

2.3.12

Nonetheless, this would most likely be a very good investment for the
various councils if they could find the funding (please note, no funds are
currently allocated in WSC budgets for this purpose). WSC does not have
access to information on parish and town council street lighting costs.
However, as context, WSC’s own costs in 2021-22 for its 1,723 lights were
just over £85,000 and the large majority are already LED. The expectation
is that running costs will rise by well over 50% in 2022-23 mainly due to
higher energy costs. Given the likely proportion of LED lights in the parish
and town council lighting stock, it could therefore reasonably be assumed
that the combined running cost of these lights will be more £100,000 in
2022-23 (and potentially significantly higher).

2.3.13

Accordingly, this is something it would be important to gather more
information on from parishes (see recommendations) so that costs and
savings can be more accurately estimated. Ideally, this would also link into
the current SCC programme to upgrade all its remaining light stock to LED
by 2023 as there is the opportunity for district and town and parish
councils to buy into this contract and achieve significant economies of
scale.

2.3.14

The aim of the review is to help parish and town councils identify options
for managing their lights more efficiently. However, parish and town
councils are obviously able, and may prefer, to start the upgrade process

Please note: The works (£600 average) also factor in a number of columns that were
replaced, in addition to the upgrade to LED. Lantern only upgrades would be considerably
cheaper than £600.
2

Page 29

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
immediately if they can access their own funding now. They therefore need
not wait for the WSC review to be concluded.
Can lights be added to the Central Management System?
2.3.15

2.3.16

Converting lights to LED is only part of the potential upgrade process. The
savings of over 70% quoted earlier are partly achieved by how the LED
lights are used, as well as them being more energy efficient to start with.
To do this the lights need to be added to the SCC Central Management
System (CMS) which can be summarised as follows:
a.

In 2011, Suffolk County Council adopted a new county-wide central
management system to monitor and meter street lights using a sensor
mounted on each streetlight.

b.

The system automatically reports lights that are not working and also
enables dimming or ‘part-night’ settings. For example, dimming a LED
light by 25% for some of the night is not normally detectable by the
human eye.3

c.

The system also produces reports that calculate the energy used by
specific lights and account for different modes of operation to ensure
that cost savings can be realised without any impact on safety.

A key part of any review would therefore also be seeking to understand the
appetite of parish and town councils to link any upgraded lights to the
Central Management System, as well as the opportunities for WSC to do
the same with the balance of its own lighting.
Proposed next steps

2.3.17

Taking everything in sections 2.2 and 2.3 into account, it is proposed that
the following next steps are taken in the review ahead of it feeding into the
wider town and parish council review in 2023-24:
a. undertake an audit or survey of lighting at district-level, including all
parish and town council lighting. Specifically, over the summer of
2022, undertake an audit of street lights across the district (ideally in
partnership with SCC). This would provide an opportunity to:
1.

find out which parishes want to work with WSC and SCC on the
review or not

2.

investigate district, parish and town lights to consider whether all
lights are felt to still be relevant locally

Please note: Although the CMS allows dimming, this is where the applicable control gear is
in place. All new lanterns would have this facility. However, some of the very early LED units
may not.
3

Page 30

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
b. investigate the potential costs to upgrade lights. Specifically, work with
SCC and parish and town councils to understand accurate cost
implications. This should include:

c.

1.

seeking to lower the expenses of former FHDC area parish and
town councils

2.

investigating whether this review could fit within the SCC upgrade
programme - for assistance with costs and economies of scale
opportunities, and

3.

targeting reductions in WSC expenditure by rationalising and
upgrading any WSC lights which are not already LED

work with Suffolk County Council to review feasibility and costs and
savings involved in incorporating parish and town council lights into the
SCC Central Management System. Specifically:
1.

following the audit, WSC and SCC should work with all partners to
understand if and where the Central Management System could
appropriately be integrated into parish and town street lighting,
and

2.

this should include an engagement and education event with parish
and town councils to ensure they understand fully the benefits of
the system (which could potentially be the Parish and Town Council
Forum in October 2022).

d. report back to Cabinet in early Autumn 2022 on findings.
3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

While the council has no statutory obligation to maintain street lights, and
is not required to work with other local lighting authorities to review street
lighting distribution and operation, it wishes to continue to support these
important community facilities in the most efficient and appropriate
manner for taxpayers across all three tiers of local government (also
reflecting the proposed vision and guiding principles for the 2023 review of
WSC’s relationship with town and parish councils).

3.2

To take this work forward, the Cabinet wishes to engage with town and
parish councils to gather information before forming proposals. Therefore,
no alternative options have been considered at this stage.

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

Initial consultation has been carried out with officers of Suffolk County
Council to gather some of the background information in this report and
identify the scope of the proposed audit. Relevant WSC portfolio holders
have also been consulted on the draft report.

Page 31

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027
4.2

However, the main consultation for the review will be carried out if the
recommendations in this report are approved. This will engage all town and
parish councils in the process, as well as other interested stakeholders
including Suffolk County Council and all members of West Suffolk Council.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

Other than ensuring that engagement over the summer is effective, there
are no significant risks associated with implementing the proposals as they
are about fact-finding to develop later options. The main risk would not be
addressing the issue at all, given the concerns raised and opportunities to
develop potential solutions in the face of rising energy prices.

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

Financial – there will be an opportunity cost in relation to the WSC staff
time needed to work on the next stage of the lighting review and on the
wider town and parish review from 2023/24. Direct financial implications in
respect of the lighting review will be contained in any options appraisal at
the next stage.

6.2

Legal compliance – not applicable at this stage.

6.3

Personal data processing – not applicable.

6.4

Equalities – not applicable.

6.5

Crime and disorder – not applicable at this stage. However, there is
extensive research carried out in Suffolk and nationally on the impact of
street lighting on crime and safety to draw upon at later stages of the
review.

6.6

Environment or sustainability – covered in the report and appendices.

6.7

HR or staffing – work on the review will be carried out within existing
workloads of officers.

6.8

Changes to existing policies – not applicable at this stage.

6.9

External organisations (such as businesses, community groups) – the audit
and later options will affect parish and town councils, the county council
and potentially registered social landlords.

7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Appendix A – Background to street lighting responsibilities

7.2

Appendix B – Types of street lighting

Page 32

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/027

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

2017 Business Case for formation of a single West Suffolk Council

8.2

Transfer of Street Lighting Columns to Suffolk County
Council. Report to St Edmundsbury Cabinet/Council in October/November
2015, ref CAB/SE/15/065

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A
Background to street lighting responsibilities
Legislation and the national picture
1833 – 1974
1.

Prior to the establishment of modern local authorities, most Municipal
Corporations had the power to provide lighting in streets and public places
under their respective Charters. Apart from the City of London, all were
abolished in 1974.

2.

Parishes were given the power to provide lighting in public places as “Local
Lighting Authorities” (LLA) under the Lighting and Watching Act (1833). Since
1966, that power can only be exercised on a public highway (including in
respect of footways forming part of the highway) with the approval and to the
standards set by the County Council for adoption. This is a discretionary
power, not a duty.

3.

The 1875 Public Health Act created urban districts, which displaced Parish
Vestries in those districts as the Local Lighting Authority (LLA). It also created
Rural Districts that could apply to the Local Government Board to be
designated LLAs, but not to displace parish councils. Urban and Rural District
Councils have now been abolished.

County councils and other highways organisations
4.

County councils were given the power to provide lighting on adopted highways
outside municipal corporation areas in 1966, and in former municipal
corporation areas from 1974. (Prior to that, they were required to fund the
Parish or District LLA to do so if they wished lighting to be provided on a
highway). Although the county council has no duty to provide lighting, it has a
duty to ensure the safety of the highway, which may include the provision of
lighting if required for road safety purposes.

5.

The Highways Act 1980 empowers a highway authority to provide lighting for
any highway or proposed highway for which they are, or will be, the highway
authority. The highway authority has a duty of care to the road user.
However, this duty does not require the highway authority to keep the public
lighting lit. It does require the authority to be able to demonstrate that they
have systems in place to maintain the public lighting equipment in a safe
condition, including the detection of dangerous equipment.

6.

Until the coming of the motorway, the
power to light trunk roads, and had to
it wished trunk roads or motorways to
The DfT now has the power to provide
own right.

Department for Transport (DfT) had no
secure (by payment) lighting by LLAs if
be lit. The first motorways were unlit.
trunk road and motorway lighting in its

District councils and other LLAs

Page 35

7.

District councils established in 1974 were given the power to become LLAs,
but not to displace the parish council's original powers. Again, this is a power,
not a duty.

8.

In addition, some Registered Social Landlords (RSL) can provide lighting on
housing estates transferred from local authority ownership.

9.

Anyone can light the road or footway at or outside their property with the
requisite development consents.

Page 36

Appendix B
Types of street lighting
Types of light
What is a Low-Pressure Sodium Light?
1. Low pressure sodium vapor (LPS) lights are a specific type of gas-discharge light
(also known as a high intensity discharge, HID or arc light). The bulb principally
contains solid sodium metal inside a borosilicate glass tube that vaporizes once
the lamp is turned on. During start (while the sodium is still in solid form) the
lamp emits a dim reddish/pink glow. Once the metal is vaporized the emissions
become the characteristic bright yellow associated with sodium vapor lamps. The
spectrum of visible emissions from an LPS light is actually very close together
(589 and 589.6 nm, virtually monochromatic) resulting in the colours of
illuminated objects being nearly indistinguishable.
What is a High-Pressure Sodium Light?
2. High pressure sodium vapor (HPS) lights, similar to LPS lights, are a specific type
of gas- discharge light (also known as a high intensity discharge, HID or arc
light). The principal difference between low and high pressure sodium lights is the
operating pressure inside the lamp. As indicated by the name, “high” pressure
sodium vapor lights operate at a higher internal pressure. The arc tube is made of
aluminium oxide and the sodium metal is combined with several other elements
like mercury which counterbalances the yellow glow with some white to light blue
emissions.
3. It is also worth noting that a number of lamp types, including high- and lowpressure sodium, are no longer manufactured in accordance with EU Directives.
These lights can no longer be maintained and promote the need to convert to
LED. Suffolk County Council have mentioned this in their annual letters sent to
asset owners whose lights SCC maintain.
What is a Light Emitting Diode (LED)?
4. LED stands for light emitting diode. A diode is an electrical device or component
with two electrodes (an anode and a cathode) through which electricity flows characteristically in only one direction (in through the anode and out through the
cathode). Diodes are generally made from semi-conductive materials such as
silicon or selenium - solid state substances that conduct electricity in some
circumstances and not in others (for example, at certain voltages, current levels,
or light intensities). When current passes through the semiconductor material the
device emits visible light.
The Benefits of LED Street Lighting
5. LEDs have extremely long lifespans and have filaments that will not quickly burn
out. As such, they represent a cost-effective street lighting investment. An LED
lamp can last up to 100,000 hours, which also means these street lights have

Page 37

much reduced maintenance costs. This is a distinct advantage for more remote
areas, where fitting LEDs can then mean replacing light bulbs is not an issue.
6. LED street lights give off less heat than other bulbs, making them far more
energy efficient (requiring up to 40% less power). Then there is the quality of
light that LEDs emit. They produce directional light, rather than a diffused glow.
This means LEDs can direct light in specific areas and can also be dimmed where
required (often unnoticeable to the human eye).
7. For areas where light pollution is a concern, these lights allow for a more
sensitive, controlled approach to street lighting, helping to maintain the essential
character of an environment.
8. In a time where budgets are squeezed, but where building and maintaining a
sense of community and safety are more important than ever before, LED street
lighting could be the perfect solution for district and parish council owned lighting
(SCC has already committed to upgrade all of its lighting to LED by 2023).

Page 38

Agenda Item 8

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/028

Procurement Policy
and Contract
Procedure Rules
Report number:

CAB/WS/22/028

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor Sarah Broughton
Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Property
Tel: 07929 305787
Email: sarah.broughton@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officers:

Rachael Mann
Director (Resources and Property)
Tel: 01638 719245
Email: Rachael.mann@westsuffolk.gov.uk

21 June 2022

Gregory Stevenson
Service Manager (Finance and Procurement)
Tel: 01638 719245
Email: Gregory.stevenson@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Decisions Plan:

The decision made as a result of this report will
usually be published within 48 hours. The
recommendation relating to approval of the Contract
Procedure Rules contained in this report will be
referred to Council for a final decision and is,
therefore, not subject to call-in. This item is
included on the Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All wards

Page 39

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/028
Recommendation:

It is recommended that Cabinet:
1.

Approves the new West Suffolk Council
Procurement Policy attached at Appendix A
to Report number CAB/WS/22/028.

2.

Recommends to Council, approval of the
constitutional changes set out in the revised
West Suffolk Council Contract Procedure
rules at Appendix B to Report number
CAB/WS/22/028.

Page 40

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/028

1.

Context to this report

1.1

The current procurement policy has not been changed since the
establishment of West Suffolk Council on 1 April 2019. Since that time there
have been changes in the wider economic environment and strategic
priorities of the Council that will now be reflected appropriately in the
procurement policy and contract procedure rules.

1.2

As an ‘anchor institution’ and significant purchaser, commissioner and
buyer, West Suffolk Council recognises that its procurement processes and
spending decisions will have an impact on a range of stakeholders, including
local businesses, communities, council tax payers and community groups.
As such, the Council wants to achieve value for money, environmental
sustainability, delivery of social value and security against modern slavery
within its supply chains.

2.

Proposals within this report
Aim of new policy and contract procedure
rules

2.1

Procurement is a key tool in ensuring that West Suffolk Council achieves its
strategic priorities and adheres to wider regulation on transactions and
transparency.

2.2

The key aims for these revised documents are to:
• Deliver value for money for West Suffolk Council
• Drive efficiency and transparency of process to show the
achievement of value.
• Ensure Sustainable Procurement
• Provide a clear framework and set of requirements for major
projects and critical service provision to demonstrate progress
towards Carbon Net Zero.
• Build understanding and consideration of sustainable procurement
into all contract decisions.
• Adhere to Modern Slavery Statement
• Ensure that there is no slavery or human trafficking in any
elements of the West Suffolk Council supply chain.
• Deliver Social Value
• Demonstrate delivery of support for local communities in wellbeing, education and mental health.

3.

Key changes to the policy and contract
procedure rules

3.1

The policy and contract procedure rules have been fully reviewed and
updated in conjunction with key internal stakeholders. The key changes
made can be grouped into significant areas as detailed below.

Page 41

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/028
3.2

The proposed revised thresholds for internal process and supplier
engagement have been increased upwards to recognise inflation, increase
access for local business and reduce onerous process at lower procurement
levels (see section 4).

3.3

Understanding of the environmental impact that contract decisions can have
needs to be a key priority through the procurement process. In order to
address this specific requirements for consideration of, commitment from
suppliers, and target setting for reduction of environmental impact have
been introduced into the contract procedure rules and revised thresholds.

3.4

Delivery of Carbon Net Zero by 2030 will be dependant on driving down CO2
production in the areas that currently produce the highest volumes. These
procurements (including commissioning) include:
• Construction projects
• Fleet
• Facilities
• Utilities
These areas will therefore have a greater requirement (at a lower threshold)
to ensure CO2 reduction targets and tracking mechanisms are included in
contract procurements and negotiations.

3.5

The Government Procurement Policy Note 05/19: Tackling Modern Slavery
in Government Supply Chains sets out the requirements for all government
bodies to follow. The West Suffolk Council Modern Slavery & Human
Trafficking Statement lays out the Council’s approach to understanding
potential modern slavery risks and steps to ensure that none exists in its
own activities and supply chains. The Procurement Policy references this
statement and asks for consideration by staff and self certification from
suppliers in all quotations. For businesses larger than £36m turnover
evidence of their own Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking policy must be
supplied (e.g. Regulatory Reporting - Microsoft UK).

4.

Revised thresholds and procurement
requirements

4.1

The revised contract value thresholds and associated award procedures and
sustainable procurement requirements (split between the service areas
named in para 3.4 and other) are laid out in the table below:

Page 42

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/028

Value of
Contract

Award Procedure

Sustainable
Procurement
Requirements (non
critical service areas)

Sustainable Procurement
Requirements (critical
service areas)

£0 - £20,000

Procure as
required

Reference Sustainable
Procurement Ask and
consideration

Reference Sustainable
Procurement Ask and
consideration

£20,001 £100,000

Formal quotation
procedure

Reference Sustainable
Procurement Ask and
consideration

Reference Sustainable
Procurement Ask and
consideration

£100,001 –
International
Advertisement
Threshold
(~£190k
Revenue,
£4.3m Capital)

National tender
procedure

Reference Sustainable
Procurement Ask and
consideration.
Include Sustainable
Procurement question
within tender (min 10%
weighting).

Include Sustainable
Procurement question within
tender (min 10% weighting).
Provide evidence of:
- use of an environmental policy
statement
- Specific targets for, and
evidence, of working towards
net zero carbon emissions.

Above IA
Threshold

National tender
procedure

Include Sustainable
Procurement question
within tender (min 10%
weighting).
Provide evidence of:
- use of an environmental
policy statement
- Specific targets for, and
evidence, of working
towards net zero carbon
emissions.

Include Sustainable
Procurement question within
tender (min 10% weighting).
Provide evidence of:
- use of an environmental policy
statement
- Specific targets for, and
evidence, of working towards
net zero carbon emissions.

4.2

These thresholds have increased from £0 to £10,000 for the first level and
from £10,000 to £50,000 for the second. This has been done to reflect the
accumulated inflation in value since the previous thresholds were set in
2014, but also to let local small and medium sized enterprises into the more
straightforward procurement processes. This brings an additional 161
suppliers into the lowest threshold bracket. Supplier spend in this bracket
increases from £2.9m to £5.2m (of a total of £49.1m yearly supplier spend).

5.

Roll out plan

5.1

In order to support the implementation and adherence to the new policy
and rules the following programme will be introduced:
• Internal workshops for all officers responsible for procurement on the
revised procurement policy and contract procedure rules. Focus on
changes, new areas for consideration and responsibilities.

Page 43

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/028
•
•

New L&D programme for all officers responsible for procurement with
focus on negotiation and contract management.
Work with Suffolk procurement partners to define options for improving
the user experience on the online ICT system (Suffolk Sourcing) that
supports our procurement process.

6.

Alternative options that have been considered

6.1

Retaining the policy as it currently exists would not address the issues
identified in section 3 above.

6.2

Moving thresholds further upward would present an increased risk of the
ability to demonstrate value and create an imbalance in the aims set out in
section 2 above.

7.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

7.1

Consultation was taken and feedback received from all internal
procurement stakeholders. These included all service managers, directors
and the procurement manager.

8.

Risks associated with the proposals

8.1

The risks inherent with this revision to the procurement policy all relate to
not achieving the aims set out in section 2:
 The risk of not demonstrating value for money or achieving efficiency or
transparency of process.
 The risk of not ensuring new contracts contribute towards our Carbon
Net Zero targets.
 The risk of engaging in contracts that do not achieve the balance
between value, service delivery and environmental impact.

9.

Implications arising from the proposals

9.1

Financial
No additional cost or resource required.

9.2

Environment or Sustainability
Key in ensuring new contracts have consideration of environmental impact
included as per the thresholds in section 4.

9.3

Changes to existing policies
Update to a policy that has not been updated since 2019 and thresholds
that have not been changed since 2014. The contract procedure rules that
are contained within the constitution will be updated.

Page 44

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/028
9.3

External organisations (such as businesses, community groups)
Local small and medium-sized enterprises (SME’s) will have more
opportunity to engage with West Suffolk Council contract tenders as laid
out in section 4.2

10.

Appendices referenced in this report

10.1

Appendix A - Revised West Suffolk Council Procurement Policy

10.2

Appendix B - Revised West Suffolk Council Contract Procedure Rules

11.

Background documents associated with this
report

11.1

None

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

FILE COPY

Appendix A

West Suffolk Council Procurement
Policy
March 2022

Page 47

FILE COPY

Appendix A

Introduction
1.1

This document sets out West Suffolk Council’s approach to the process of
procuring goods, services and works. It covers the procurement process
throughout the full life-cycle of the asset or service contract, from the
initial definition of the business need through to the end of the useful life
of the asset or service contract.

1.2

The Contract Procedure Rules for West Suffolk Council that are included as
part of the constitution set out the minimum requirements for all
procurement activity and the methodology by which any procurement is
undertaken.

1.3

As an ‘anchor institution’ and significant purchaser, commissioner and
buyer, West Suffolk Council recognises that its procurement processes and
spending decisions will have an impact on a range of stakeholders,
including local businesses, communities, council tax payers and
community groups. As such, the Council wants to achieve value for
money, environmental sustainability, delivery of social value and security
against modern slavery within its supply chains.

Strategic aims
2.1

In carrying out its procurement activities, West Suffolk will:

•

Ensure that procurement activities deliver value for money and achieve
savings by reducing the cost of purchasing and the time taken to select
suppliers;

•

Enable local suppliers, small and medium sized enterprises, and
community-based providers to participate where possible;

•

Ensure full consideration of environmental sustainability and impact of
contracts and tenders;

•

Leverage our procurement expenditure to maximise social value delivered
through contact awards (for example job creation, education, etc.);

•

Ensure that our supply chains are free from modern slavery and human
trafficking;

•

Increase transparency in procurement to improve accessibility for new
suppliers and to ensure accountability;

Page 48

•

Use the latest technology to enable faster, more efficient and less
bureaucratic procurement - including, but not limited to, the use of
appropriate e-procurement tools and available electronic marketplaces.

Key procurement considerations
Value for money
3.1

The methods used to demonstrate that value for money is delivered
through the Council’s procurement processes are detailed in the Contract
Procedure Rules, which make up part of the West Suffolk Council
Constitution.

3.2

The processes set out within the Contract Procedure Rules show the
requirements for transparency, approach to the market (for example, use
of quotations, frameworks, formal tenders) and award criteria.

3.3

It is through these rules and requirements that comparison of competing
quotes and tenders will prove the attainment of value.

Supporting local small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs)
3.4

To support small and medium sized enterprises, West Suffolk Council will:



Work to use a mix of the best suppliers to promote a diverse and
competitive economy. To help achieve this, the council will support smaller
businesses, the voluntary, charitable and social enterprise sectors, as well
as community organisations to become part of the supply chain



Ensure financial evaluation is proportionate to the contract and therefore
does not exclude SMEs from participating in procurement opportunities in
West Suffolk



Encourage main contractors to make timely payment to all sub-contractors
and will, where appropriate, ensure that this expectation is reflected within
any Invitation to Tender.

Sustainable environmental procurement
3.5

In 2019, West Suffolk Council declared a climate emergency, with a
biodiversity emergency being declared the following year in 2020. In
consequence, the target was set for the council to achieve net zero carbon
emissions by 2030. The council’s procurement of goods, services and
works need to consider the environmental impact it will have, and
evidence provided to show how sustainability principles are being met.
This should be in-keeping with the concept of “sustainable procurement” a process whereby organisations meet their needs for goods, services and
works in a way that achieves value for money on a whole life basis and

Page 49
3.

generates benefits not only to the organisation, but also to society, the
economy and the environment.
All purchases should (aim to) contribute to this target and we expect that
all of the council’s suppliers support this goal.
We ask staff looking to procure goods and services (including extending
contracts) to:
•

Consider the environmental impact (in terms of both the carbon footprint
and the biodiversity impact) of the goods, services and works contracted
and understand that procurement decisions can have significant
environmental implications both today and into the future.


This can be considered in terms of managing the possible impacts
on carbon emissions, as well as the impact on natural habitats and
the pollution of land, air, and water

•

Deliver value for money by realistically assessing the whole life-cycle costs
of our procurement and not simply considering the initial purchase price

•

Include at least one environmental question within the quality section of
tenders, with a minimum weighting of 10%.






This question could include, for instance, a focus on how the
organisation will incorporate environmental impact into its auditing
processes, measure/reduce its carbon footprint, source raw
materials in a low carbon and environmentally friendly way, or
offset carbon emissions.
The questions should be relevant to the company – different
companies will have different impact on the environment. It is
important to identify the particular issues potentially facing this
company and seek to ask questions around how they would lower or
off-set this impact.
There should also be prioritisation of energy or resource efficiency
over offsetting, which should be considered the last option – only in
the event that carbon emissions or biodiversity impact can’t be
reduced, so must be offset.

•

Make sure that the contract is consistent with the aim of net zero carbon
emissions by 2030 – the Environment and Climate Change Taskforce final
report can be viewed here

•

Ensure that suppliers know that the council has declared a climate
emergency and a biodiversity emergency, with the aim of being net carbon
zero by 2030

•

Ensure that the contract management targets include the environmental
impacts of the contract and how negative impacts will be minimised &
monitored

Page 50
4.

Social value
3.6

West Suffolk Council will seek to maximise the social value achieved
through any procurement process. This could include, but is not limited to:

•

Provision of training or educational opportunities

•

Inclusion and consideration of the local voluntary, community and social
enterprise sector needs

•

Provision of programmes that support local mental health and well-being

•

Supporting digital inclusion for local communities.

Modern slavery and human-trafficking
3.7

The Government Procurement Policy Note 05/19: Tackling Modern Slavery
in Government Supply Chains sets out the requirements for all
government bodies to follow

3.8

The West Suffolk Council’s Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking Statement
lays out the council’s approach to understanding potential modern slavery
risks and steps to ensure that none exists in its own activities and supply
chains

3.9

Within the procurement process, West Suffolk Council will ask for
consideration by staff and self-certification from suppliers in all quotations.
For businesses larger than £36m turnover, evidence of their own Modern
Slavery & Human Trafficking policy must be supplied.

Equality and diversity
4.1

West Suffolk Council will:

•

Ensure all applicable procurement opportunities are advertised to alert as
wide a range of businesses as possible

•

Conduct its procurement operations in a transparent and fair manner

•

Comply with relevant equality and diversity legislation and expect the
same of its suppliers

•

Treat people fairly and not discriminate against any individual or group,
and actively promote equality

•

Abide by the councils’ statutory equality duties under the Equality Act
2010 and ensure compliance.

Page 51
5.

Health and safety
5.1

The West Suffolk Council Health and Safety at Work Policy recognises and
accepts that each council has a responsibility as employers for providing a
safe and healthy workplace and working environment for all employees

5.2

West Suffolk will outline key health and safety issues within supplier
contracts.

Staff and training
6.1

West Suffolk Council will ensure that all staff directly responsible for
procurement and contract management are appropriately trained and
possess the required core competencies. Training will be given to ensure
staff are up to date with new developments in procurement.

Adult and child safeguarding
7.1

West Suffolk Council provides a range of services and facilities to the
community. The nature of the provision means, inevitably, employees
(permanent, temporary or contracted), volunteers and councillors, as well
as contractors will come into contact with vulnerable people and their
families in a variety of settings. West Suffolk requires all contractors to
understand their responsibility regarding the safety and wellbeing of
vulnerable adults and children, as set out in West Suffolk’s Safeguarding
Policy.

7.2

West Suffolk Council will:



Undertake measures to ensure safeguarding practices are implemented
when working with community groups and external contractors
Ensure that all contracts will be monitored via the contract management
system, with contractors undertaking an annual safeguarding compliance
review meeting with an appropriate officer representing the council



Fraud prevention and detection
8.1

West Suffolk Council is committed to creating a culture of zero tolerance
of, and minimising losses to, fraud, theft and corruption (including bribery)
and maintaining high ethical standards in its administration of public
funds. Procedures are in place to ensure that third parties are not able to
use West Suffolk Council for the purposes of money laundering, and also
to enable anyone with serious concerns about any aspect of our work to
come forward and voice those concerns.

8.2

West Suffolk Council requires that councillors, all staff (including those
permanently employed and temporary agency staff) and contractors will:

•

Act honestly and with integrity at all times and safeguard the councils’
resources for which they are responsible

Page 52
6.

•

Comply with the spirit, as well as the letter, of the laws, regulations, and
Codes of Practice of all jurisdictions in which the councils operate, in
respect of the lawful and responsible conduct of procurement activities.

8.3

In line with our commitment to the highest possible standards of
openness, propriety, and integrity, we encourage anyone with serious
concerns about any aspect of our work to come forward and voice
concerns should they suspect impropriety or malpractice.

8.4

West Suffolk Council recognises that the decision to report a concern can
be a difficult one to make. The West Suffolk Council Whistleblowing Policy
makes clear how any concerns can be raised in confidence without fear of
harassment, victimisation, discrimination, or disadvantage.

8.5

This statement has been approved by the Portfolio Holder who will review
and update it in response to changes in legislation or guidance, or changes
in the risk environment or local circumstances.

Page 53
7.

This page is intentionally left blank

FILE COPY

Appendix B

West Suffolk Council Contract
Procedure Rules
March 2022

Page 55

FILE COPY

Appendix B

Introduction
1.1

These Contract Procedure Rules (Contract Procedure Rules) have been
issued in accordance with Section 135 of the 1972 Local Government Act
and the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR2015) and adopted by West
Suffolk Council to give consistency to procurement across the
organisation.

1.2

Procurement is the process by which the Council manages the acquisition
of all goods, services and works. It includes the identification of need,
consideration of options and the actual procurement process.

1.3

The Procurement Policy lays out the strategic aims that West Suffolk is
seeking to deliver through its procurement process. These Contract
Procedure Rules must be read in conjunction with this policy in order to
ensure that decisions are made in line with these aims.

1.4

These Contract Procedure Rules should be followed for all contracts unless
they fall under the exclusion list in section 11 or are subject to an
exemption. The circumstances where an exemption may be granted are
listed in section 10.

1.5

The disposal of assets and the acquisition, use and disposal of Land and
Buildings are not covered by these Contract Procedure Rules and are to be
considered alongside the Financial Procedure Rules.

1.6

For the purposes of these Contract Procedure Rules there is a requirement
for all communication to be in writing except where otherwise specified.
This shall be deemed to include electronic communication, use of eprocurement and fax transmissions or hard copy.

Page 56

Appendix B
Procurement thresholds and key requirements
2.1

In order to provide the appropriate level of proportionality to the
requirements for varying scale of contracts the table below lays out the
financial thresholds and the process and requirements at each level.

2.2

The Sustainable Procurement Requirements at the carrying contract values
differ between critical and non-critical service areas. For the purposes of
sustainable procurement critical service areas are those that have the
most significant environmental impact.

2.3

These critical service areas are:





Construction projects
Vehicle fleet
Facilities
Utilities
All other service areas are designated as non-critical for the purposes of
sustainable procurement.

Value of
Contract

Award
Procedure

Sustainable Procurement
Requirements (non
critical service areas)

Sustainable Procurement
Requirements (critical service
areas)

£0 - £20,000

Procure as
required

Reference Sustainable
Procurement Ask and
consideration

Reference Sustainable Procurement
Ask and consideration

£20,001 £100,000

Formal
quotation
procedure

Reference Sustainable
Procurement Ask and
consideration

Reference Sustainable Procurement
Ask and consideration

£100,001 –
International
Advertisement
Threshold
(~£190k
Revenue,
£4.3m
Capital)

National
tender
procedure

Reference Sustainable
Procurement Ask and
consideration.
Include Sustainable
Procurement question within
tender (min 10%
weighting).

Include Sustainable Procurement
question within tender (min 10%
weighting).
Provide evidence of:
- use of an environmental policy
statement
- Specific targets for, and evidence,
of working towards net zero carbon
emissions.

Page 57
3.

Appendix B

Above IA
Threshold

National
tender
procedure

Include Sustainable
Procurement question within
tender (min 10%
weighting).
Provide evidence of:
- use of an environmental
policy statement
- Specific targets for, and
evidence, of working
towards net zero carbon
emissions.

Include Sustainable Procurement
question within tender (min 10%
weighting).
Provide evidence of:
- use of an environmental policy
statement
- Specific targets for, and evidence,
of working towards net zero carbon
emissions.

Award procedure
3.1

The award of a contract can either be through direct approach to the
market with the proportional requirements as laid below or through use of
a procurement framework agreement (see section 4). Use of a framework
agreement will automatically meet the award procedure requirements.

Procure as required (£0-£20,000)
3.2

Where the estimated value of goods, works or services to be supplied is
less than £20,000 there can be direct procurement without the need for
specification, multiple quotations or defining award criteria. In these
instance Officers need to be satisfied that the arrangements made secure
the best available terms for the Council.

Formal quotation procedure (£20,001-£100,000)
3.3

The Request for a Formal Quotation shall be issued through the eprocurement portal utilising the standard template available in the
Procurement Webpage and shall specify the supplies, services or works
that are required together with the appropriate terms and conditions of
contract as agreed with the Service Manager (Legal) and will state that no
Formal Quotation will be considered unless it is received by the date, time
and method stipulated.

3.4

All organisations invited to provide a Quotation must be issued with the
same information at the same time and subject to the same conditions.

3.5

Three Formal Quotations shall be invited where the Officer is satisfied that
competitive Quotations will be received from those three. If less than three
quotations are received the process can be continued subject to Officer
approval.

3.6

Providing clarification of a Request for a Quotation to a Bidder is permitted
and is provided for within e-procurement.

3.7

For the receipt and opening of a Formal Quotation there must be strict
compliance with the requirements of e-procurement.

Page 58
4.

Appendix B
Formal tender procedure (£100,001-International Advertisement threshold)
3.8

All procurement above £100,000 shall be conducted in accordance with
advice from the Procurement Manager and shall be undertaken as an Open
Tender Procedure using e-procurement system.

Open tender procedure
3.9

The Invitation to Tender shall be issued through the e-procurement portal
and shall specify the supplies, services or works that are required together
with the appropriate terms and conditions of contract as agreed with the
Service Manager (Legal). It will also state that no Tender will be
considered unless it is submitted via the e-procurement portal.

3.10

All organisations invited to provide a Tender must be issued with the same
information at the same time and subject to the same conditions. All
dialogue with Bidders during the process must be dealt with using the eprocurement portal.

3.11

Utilising the standard template available in the Procurement Webpage, all
Invitations to Tender shall include a Form of Tender, and other
documentation as advised by the Service Manager (Legal) or the
Procurement Manager.

3.12

Providing clarification of an Invitation to Tender to Bidder is permitted and
is provided for within e-procurement.

3.13

For the receipt and opening of a Tender there must be strict compliance
with the requirements of e-procurement.

3.14

The Officer must ensure that there is approval from the Director be
International Advertisement threshold procedure

3.15

All procurement above the International Advertisement threshold shall be
conducted in accordance with advice from the Service Manager (Legal)
and the Procurement Manager and shall be undertaken using eprocurement. Provisions, such as those relating to the receipt and opening
of Tenders, must be followed exactly in accordance with the legislation.

3.16

All transactions exceeding the International Advertisement threshold must
be conducted in accordance with the required procedures as set out in the
PCR2015. Strict rules govern the process in relation to timescales,
descriptions and selection procedures and these are in addition to these
Contract Procedure Rules. Advice must be sought from the Procurement
Manager and the Service Manager (Legal) in all circumstances where there
is a likelihood of the PCR2015 limits being exceeded. Before awarding any
contract above the tender threshold.

Page 59
5.

Appendix B
Framework agreements
4.1

A Framework Agreement may be entered into with one provider, or, where
an agreement is concluded with several organisations, there must be at
least three providers. Advice must be sought from the Procurement
Manager when a Framework Agreement is being considered. Contracts
based on Framework Agreements may be awarded by either:

•

Direct Call Off - applying the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement
(where such terms are sufficiently precise to cover the particular call-off)
without reopening competition, or

•

Mini Competition - where the terms laid down in the Framework
Agreement are not precise enough or complete for the particular call-off,
by holding a mini competition.

Specification setting
5.1

For procurement where a specification document is required the Officer
must prepare a document that describes the Council’s requirements in
sufficient detail to enable the submission of competitive offers before
starting a procurement process. The specification document must include
performance targets and/or the criteria for acceptance and must be
outcome or output based.

5.2

Consideration must also be given by the Officer to economic,
environmental and social value benefits of any proposed procurement to
include consulting stakeholders where appropriate. Further information is
within the Procurement Policy or advice can be obtained from the
Procurement Manager.

5.3

The Officer must define Award Criteria and any sub criteria that are
appropriate to the procurement and designed to secure an outcome
delivering the strategic procurement aims for the council. The basic criteria
shall be:

•

Lowest price (to ensure value for money)

•

Delivery of specification

•

Environmental impact (min 10% weighting). The West Suffolk Council
Procurement policy can be used a reference for setting this criteria.

5.4

Award Criteria must not include:

•

Matters which unfairly discriminate against suppliers

5.5

Good practice requires that quoted prices or tendered prices must not be
altered without justification. However where there is a risk that a priced
document maybe subject to computational errors then the Officer must
decide, at the time that the specification is agreed, how such errors will be

Page 60
6.

Appendix B
treated and this should be detailed within the Specification. Further
information is within the Procurement Webpage or advice can be obtained
from either the Procurement Manager or the Service Manager (Legal).
Officer responsibilities
6.1

Officers responsible for procurement must comply with these Contract
Procedure Rules, Financial Procedure Rules, the Officers' Code of Conduct,
and with all UK binding legal requirements. Officers must ensure that any
Agent, Consultants and contractual partners acting on the Councils’ behalf
also comply.

6.2

Before requesting Quotations or inviting Tenders the Officer must:

•

Explore whether there is an alternative to buying the goods services or
works.

•

Check with the Procurement Manager whether a relevant contract exists
before seeking to enter into a further contract; if such a relevant contract
exists, this must be used unless there is an auditable reason not to.

•

Check with the Procurement Manager whether a suitable Framework
Agreement is available from any Contracting Authority or Professional
Buying Organizations (e.g. ESPO, GPS, YPO, CBC etc.) before starting a
new procurement; where a suitable Framework Agreement exists,
consideration should be given to procure from it unless there is an
auditable reason not to.

•

Confirm that there is member or delegated approval for the expenditure
and the procurement complies with the approved policy and scheme of
delegation as set out in the Constitution.

•

If a Tender relates to a contract award which is a Key Decision, confirm
that all appropriate steps have been taken.

•

Seek timely procurement, legal, financial, and other professional advice.

•

Confirm that they are authorised to use the e-procurement portal or obtain
authorisation from the Procurement Manager.

•

Have regard to the guidance in the Procurement Webpage and the
Procurement Policy.

•

Give consideration to Contract Management and prepare a business case if
the project is high risk, high profile or of significant financial value

•

Keep records of all Contracting Decisions taken.

6.3

The Officer must ensure that timely advice is sought from the Director HR, Governance & Regulatory when any employee either of the Councils or
of a service provider may be affected by the Transfer of Undertaking

Page 61
7.

Appendix B
(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE) issues before
proceeding with inviting Tenders or Quotations.
Contract formalities
7.1

All contracts to which these Procedure Rules apply shall be in writing.

7.2

Advice from the Service Manager (Legal) and the Procurement Manager
must be sought for the following contract types:

•

Where the Total Value exceeds the International Advertisement thresholds

•

Those involving leasing arrangements where it is proposed to use a
supplier's own terms and conditions

•

Agreements involving the development of land for public benefit

•

Those that are complex in any other way.

7.3

All contracts shall clearly specify:

•

What is to be supplied (i.e. the works, materials, services, matters or
things to be furnished, had or done)

•

The provisions for payment (i.e. the price to be paid and when)

•

Whether the price stated is inclusive or exclusive of Value Added Tax

•

The time, or times, within which the contract is to be performed

•

The provisions for the council to terminate the contract.

7.4

Guidance must be sought from the Service Manager (Legal) for the terms
and conditions that will apply to any contract with a value in excess of
£50,000.

7.5

Where a contact does not contain a defined extension period but supply of
goods/services is desired to continue past the contract end date, then
either:

•

a re-tender for that contract must be performed in line with the
Procurement thresholds in paragraph 2.3. or

•

an exemption must be granted for a contract extension under the
circumstance listed in paragraph 11.5

Page 62
8.

Appendix B
Advertisement of quotation or tender opportunities
8.1

Officers shall ensure that a sufficiently accessible advertisement is
published to generate the appropriate level of interest in the contract.
Examples of where such advertisements may be placed include:

•

Suffolk Sourcing and Contracts Finder.

•

Constructionline or similar specialist portal websites created for contract
advertisements

•

the Council’s website

•

the Council’s social media accounts

•

national official journals

•

the Find a Tender public services platform.

•

Any other appropriate mechanism in consultation with the Procurement
Manager and Service Manager (Legal).

8.2

The Officer must ensure to give Bidders an adequate period in which to
prepare and submit a Quotation or Tender consistent with the complexity
of the contract requirement. Advice must be sought from the Procurement
Manager but the following are recommended:
Quick Quotation 10 Calendar Days
Formal Quotation 28 Calendar Days
Formal Tender 28 Calendar Days
EU Tender The timescales are prescribed and vary according to procedure
utilised.

8.3

No Quotation or Tender received after the date and time indicated in the
Request for Quotation or Invitation to Tender shall be accepted or
considered, other than exceptional circumstances and the Officer must
consult with the Monitoring Officer and Procurement Manager.

Collaborative arrangements
9.1

In order to secure Value for Money, the Council may enter into
collaborative procurement arrangements. The Officer must consult with
the Procurement Manager in these circumstances.

9.2

All procurement made via a local authority procurement consortium or a
Professional Buying Organisation (PBO) are deemed to comply with these
Contract Procedure Rules and no exemption is required. However,

Page 63
9.

Appendix B
procurements above the PCR2015 limits must be let in accordance with
those procedures, unless the consortium has satisfied this requirement
already
9.3

Any contracts entered into through collaboration with other local
authorities or other public bodies, where a competitive process has been
followed that complies with the Contract Procedure Rules of the leading
organisation, will be deemed to comply with these Contract Procedure
Rules and no exemption is required. However, advice must be sought from
the Procurement Manager.

Exclusions
10.1

These contract procedure rules apply to all contracts commissioned by the
Council, except for:

•

The making of grant payments which are covered by the Financial
Procedure Rules, or

•

Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of
the council, or

•

The engagement of Counsel/Advocates or other experts by the Service
Manager (Legal) where such engagement falls outside an existing
framework for the provision of legal services, or

•

Contracts where delay will adversely impact on the service delivery of the
Council and there is a prior specialised knowledge of a particular building
or asset, or

•

Agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land. Further
guidance must be sought from the Service Manager (Legal) or the
Procurement Manager; or

•

The lending and borrowing of money, or

•

The purchase or sale by auction or at public fairs and markets, or

•

The purchase of works of art or museum specimens, or

•

Agreements in relation to festivals and arts programming, or

•

Agreements under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended).

Exemptions
11.1

Exemptions to the procurement process cannot be awarded where the
proposed value exceeds the International Advertisement threshold.

Page 64
10.

Appendix B
11.2

Below this threshold, exemptions must only be sought in exceptional
circumstances and all exemptions, must be recorded.

11.3

Between £100,001 and the International Advertisement thresholds, any
exemption must be approved by the relevant service Director in
consultation with the Section 151 Officer, The section 151 Officer shall
keep records of all exemptions granted along with reasons and supporting
evidence for such exemptions.

11.4

Below £100,000 any exemption must be approved by the Director or an
officer delegated to make such decisions by the Director. The Director, or
delegated officer, must send a record of the exemption to the Section 151
Officer alongside supporting evidence and reasons.

11.5

Exemptions are likely only to be granted in the following circumstances:

•

An unforeseeable emergency involving immediate risk to persons or
property, or serious disruption to council services.

•

The goods or services are supplied at a fixed price or the prices are wholly
controlled by trade organisations and the relevant Director is satisfied that
no satisfactory alternative is available.

•

The works to be executed consist of repair or supply of parts of existing
propriety machinery or plant.

•

The items to be supplied consist of goods or services which are currently
in use and are required for the purposes of standardisation.

•

Best value is anticipated to be delivered from sourcing goods on the
second-hand market where no competing quotations can be obtained.

•

The anticipated disruption/cost of changing supplier will significantly
outweigh the savings generated from retendering.

•

The specialised nature of the goods, services to be supplied or the works
to be executed means that only one suitable supplier has been identified
or is available.

•

Emergency action is required and/or immediate repairs are required to
buildings, structures and other assets damaged by fire, flood or vandalism.

•

Unforeseen works where delay will adversely impact on the service
delivery for the Council.

•

For a ‘pilot’ scheme where goods and services are procured on an
experimental basis and considered to be the most appropriate approach
for a particular scenario and where ‘pilot’ scheme is for a clearly defined
period not exceeding 24 months and where agreed by relevant Service
Manager and the Procurement Manager.

Page 65
11.

Appendix B
11.6

If an exemption is sought which is not for any of the above reasons,
advice must first be obtained from the Monitoring Officer and Section 151
Officer in order to determine whether such an exemption can be applied.
Exemptions for reasons not listed above will be acceptable only in
exceptional circumstances.

Records and safekeeping
12.1

It is essential that for every Procurement exercise a record is kept by the
Officer. Where e-procurement has been used then the system retains the
records from after the Request to Quote or Invitation to Tender has been
issued up to the Contract Award.

12.2

For every awarded contract over £25,000 the details of the winning tender
must be sent to the Procurement Manager in the prescribed format. This
includes awards made following a call-off from a Framework Agreement
and contracts that may not have been openly advertised or been granted
an exemption. This list of awards will be published in accordance with
government transparency requirements.

12.3

Where the Total Value does not exceed £50,000, the following records
must be kept:

•

Request to Quote and Quotations (including name of Bidder and price)

•

Any exemption and the reason for them

•

Any clarification question and the answer

•

Award Criteria if the award is most economically advantageous

•

Details of how the Quotations were stored before opening

•

When and how the Quotations were opened

•

Written records or communications with the successful Bidder or an
electronic record if written record of the transaction would normally not be
produced.

12.4

Where the Total Value exceeds £50,000 the Officer must record:

•

The method for obtaining bids

•

Pre-tender market research

•

Any Contracting Decision and the reasons for it

•

Any exemption together with the reasons for it

Page 66
12.

Appendix B
•

The Award Criteria in descending order of importance and any sub criteria

•

The Invitation to Tender sent to and received from the Bidder

•

Clarification and post-tender negotiation (to include minutes of meetings)

•

The contract documents

•

Post-contract evaluation and monitoring

•

Communications with the Bidder and with the successful contractor
throughout the period of the contract.

12.5

Records relating to procurement must be retained in accordance with the
Council’s Retention guidelines.

12.6

Details of all Renewable Contracts (regardless of value) are and shall be
entered onto the contract management system with the following details:

•

The title of the contract and reference number

•

The parties to the contract

•

The name of the service and contract manager primarily responsible for
the contract

•

The estimated total value of the contract or the estimated annual spend or
budget

•

The start date, end date, review dates and any date to which the contract
may be extended

•

The procurement method to include details of any Framework Agreement.

12.7

The original executed and completed copy of all contracts over the value
of £50,000 shall be passed to the Service Manager (Legal) for safekeeping.

12.8

Directors shall be responsible for the safekeeping of all other contracts
falling within their designated functions.

Evaluation, award of contract, and debriefing bidders
13.1

Apart from the debriefing required or permitted by these Contract
Procedure Rules, the confidentiality of Quotations, Tenders and the
identity of Bidders must be preserved at all times and information about
one Bidder’s response must not be given to another Bidder.

13.2

Contracts must be evaluated and awarded in accordance with the Award
Criteria. During this process, Officers shall ensure that submitted prices

Page 67
13.

Appendix B
are compared with any pre-process estimates and that any discrepancies
are examined and resolved satisfactorily.
13.3

The arithmetic in compliant Quotations or Tenders must be checked. If
computational errors are found in the lowest or most economically
advantageous bid, then advice must be sought from the Service Manager
(Legal) before they must be notified to the Bidder. Further the Request to
Quote or Invitation to Tender must be reviewed to ascertain the procedure
in these circumstances.

13.4

Officers may accept Quotations and Tenders received in respect of
proposed contracts, provided that they have been sought and evaluated
fully in accordance with these Contract Procedure Rules and they do not
exceed the budget provision. Only the successful Bidder will be subject to
the appropriate Financial Vetting.

13.5

Where the Total Value is above the International Advertisement thresholds
the Officer must notify all Bidders simultaneously and as soon as possible
of the intention to award the contract to the successful Bidder. The Officer
must provide unsuccessful Bidders with a period of at least ten days in
which to challenge the decision before the Officer awards the contract. If
the decision is challenged by an unsuccessful Bidder, then the Officer shall
not award the contract and shall immediately seek the advice of the
Service Manager (Legal).

13.6

The Officer shall debrief in writing all those Bidders who submitted a
Tender about the characteristics and relative advantages of the leading
Tenderer. No information, other than the following, must be given without
taking the advice of the Procurement Manager or the Service Manager
(Legal):

•

How the Award Criteria were applied

•

The prices or range of prices submitted, in either case not correlated to
Bidders’ names.

13.7

If a Bidder requests in writing the reasons for any Contracting Decision (to
include those deselected in any pre-tender shortlisting process) the Officer
must give the reasons in writing within 15 days of receipt of the request.
Guidance must be sought from the Procurement Manager.

Post-tender negotiation
14.1

Post-tender negotiation means discussions with a Bidder, or a number of
Bidders, and can be a useful tool in making improvements to Quotations or
Tenders. It can ensure that the Council obtains true value for money by
purchasing an acceptable finished product at a competitive but fair market
price, within the time stipulated. It can also ensure that potential suppliers
have no illusions or misunderstandings as to their exact obligations under
the terms of any contract. Further Guidance is available within the
Procurement Webpage.

Page 68
14.

Appendix B
14.2

Advice must be obtained from the Service Manager (Legal) prior to
entering into any Post-Tender Negotiations. Where post tender negotiation
results in a material change to the specification (or contract terms) the
contract must not be awarded and must be re-tendered.

14.3

Negotiations must not take place unless the Formal Quotation or Tender
specifically reserves the right to do so. Any negotiations will occur
following the closing date for receipt of Quotations or Tenders but before
award of the contract.

Page 69
15.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

West Suffolk
Workforce Strategy
2022 to 2028
Report number:

CAB/WS/22/029

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor Carol Bull
Portfolio Holder for Governance
Tel: 01953 681513
Email: carol.bull@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Jennifer Eves
Director (HR, Governance and Regulatory)
Tel: 01284 757015
Email: jennifer.eves@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

The decision made as a result of this report will
usually be published within 48 hours and cannot be
actioned until five clear working days of the
publication of the decision have elapsed. This item is
included on the Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All Wards

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Cabinet endorses the West
Suffolk Workforce Strategy 2022 to 2028, as set out
in Appendix A to Report number CAB/WS/22/029
and supports its implementation across the
organisation.

21 June 2022

Page 71

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

1.

Background

1.1

Our Workforce Strategy outlines our commitment to work together to
deliver our vision and to develop a future focused workforce plan to help
us to deliver against our Strategic Framework, whilst building a diverse
and inclusive workforce that reflects and understands the communities
we serve.

1.2

We recognise that the greatest asset we have to deliver services to the
communities of West Suffolk, is our workforce. The delivery of our vision
and priorities can only be achieved if we are able to retain and recruit
the right people, with the right skills and the right attitude, those who
will innovate and collaborate to deliver transformation of our services
and maximise our organisational potential.

2.

Proposals within the strategy

2.1

This is an ambitious strategy. We continue to have a strong reputation
and proven track record of transforming local government to meet the
challenges faced by our council and communities, demonstrated by the
creation of one West Suffolk Council. We need to build on this as we
prepare the workforce for a range of external and internal challenges
ahead.

2.2

It captures the learning from Covid-19, continuing the journey around
new ways of working, while maintaining a strong focus on supporting
health and wellbeing.

2.3

The People strategy makes a commitment to take positive action to
attract and develop a more inclusive workforce. The council recognises
that a diverse set of experiences, perspectives, and backgrounds is
crucial to innovation and the development of new ideas. Valuing
differences plays a key role in attracting and retaining talent and is an
important component of a successful organisation. The Council is
committed to providing equality of opportunity, creating a culture
where diversity is valued and encouraged, using the principles of the
Equality Framework for Local Government. Our strategy sets out how
we will work towards a workforce that reflects the diversity of the local
community, so that our services are provided appropriately and the
council benefits from a wealth of experiences.

2.4

The strategy outlines our ambition to develop an inclusive culture where
leaders, at all levels, promote a culture of personal responsibility and
accountability; and create an engaged workforce, where our staff can be
creative, flexible and have the right skills.

2.5

This strategy recognises that career trajectories and structures are
changing, and the traditional boundaries of jobs are starting to break
down as people seek portfolio careers; requiring us to challenge
traditional specialised and linear public sector careers.

Page 72

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029
2.6

The strategy outlines how we will continue to deliver services in a
changing and challenging environment focusing on how we attract,
retain, reward, nurture and develop our staff, through our 5 key
workstreams;






Skills & behaviours
Recruitment and retention
Reward and recognition
Health and well-being
Future planning

2.7

The success of it will be measured through our annual reporting
processes, as well as through regular dialogue in Leadership and Senior
Management Team, workforce planning, future employee surveys / pulse
surveys and the Joint Negotiating Committee. The Portfolio Holder for
Governance and the Staff Consultative Panel also receive regular
updates on progress against the workstreams.

3.

Alternative options

3.1

There are no alternative options. The workforce strategy is a key
corporate strategy and aligns all the key commitments around how the
workforce will develop in the future, aligning HR activity with the wider
Council vision and priorities.

3.2

Putting this in place enables the Head of Paid Service to have a robust
strategy to retain, manage, develop and recruit staff. Our people are our
key asset, and we need to ensure we support all our employees in their
development in West Suffolk Council to help maximise their productivity,
create a high performing culture and drive service improvement.

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

Significant engagement has been undertaken with employees and wider
staff groups (Unison), as well as with members through the Portfolio
Holder for Governance and feedback around our work streams presented
to the Staff Consultative Panel.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

There are no risks associated with the proposals. The work on delivering
the People Strategy are positive interventions in relation to our
corporate risk around supporting and managing our workforce.

Page 73

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

Financial – there are no specific financial implications arising from this
report. The People Strategy will support the MTFS and transformation
programme. Should any additional funding be identified as part of the
implementation of the strategy, this would be subject of approval by the
appropriate route once quantified.

6.2

Legal - A robust People Strategy supports the Council in delivery its wider
legal obligations to staff.

6.3

Climate - This is a key consideration in relation to agile working, by
reducing the travel of our workforce where we are able. Good jobs,
improved training and development, good wages, good health and
wellbeing and addressing inequalities also support the council’s strategic
plan and long-term sustainability.

7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Appendix A – West Suffolk Workforce Strategy 2022 to 2028

8.

Appendices referenced in this report

8.1

None

Page 74

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029
Appendix A

Workforce Strategy 2022-2028
Contents
Foreword ............................................................................................... 6
Our Vision, values and behaviours ............................................................. 8
Our workforce journey – where are we now? .............................................. 8


Skills and behaviours ...................................................................... 9



Recruitment and retention ............................................................... 9



Health and wellbeing ....................................................................... 9



Reward and recognition ................................................................... 9



Future planning .............................................................................. 9

Contextual factors affecting our future workforce ........................................ 9
Table 1 – Ongoing internal workforce challenges .................................... 10
Workforce strategy model ...................................................................... 10
Valuing difference ................................................................................. 11
Leading together ................................................................................... 12
Our workstreams and priorities ............................................................... 12
Skills and behaviours .......................................................................... 12
Recruitment and retention ................................................................... 14
Pay, reward and recognition ................................................................ 16
Health and wellbeing .......................................................................... 18
Future planning .................................................................................. 19
Delivering the strategy .......................................................................... 20
Strategic managers ............................................................................ 20
All people managers ........................................................................... 21
All staff ............................................................................................. 21
Human Resources (HR) Team .............................................................. 22

Page 75

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

Foreword
We recognise that the greatest asset we have, to
deliver services to the communities of West
Suffolk, is our workforce. It is important that, as
we continue to deliver those services in a
changing and challenging environment, our
workforce strategy continues to focus on how we
attract, retain, reward, nurture and develop our
staff, through our five key workstreams.
There will be a continuum of change in public
services over the coming years, not only in the
services the public sector provides and the
demands placed upon them, but in how services
are delivered as demographics shift, new
technologies emerge and our citizens’
expectations change.
Our vision is: supporting and investing in our West Suffolk communities and
businesses to encourage and manage ambitious growth in prosperity and quality of
life for all. This Workforce Strategy, in line with our values, outlines our commitment
to work together to deliver this vision and to develop future focused workforce plans
to help us to deliver against our Strategic Framework, while building a diverse and
inclusive workforce that reflects and understands the communities we serve.
This strategy captures the learning from our collective response to the COVID-19
pandemic and recognises the opportunities that 2020 has provided to move towards
an agile organisation, valuing new ways of working and enabling our staff to deliver
their best work in different ways, with a strong focus on supporting health and
wellbeing.
The workforce strategy makes a commitment to take positive action to attract and
develop an inclusive workforce that understands and reflects the diversity of the
communities we serve. We need to consider new ways of influencing culture change
across the organisation, cultivating diversity and inclusion and creating a workforce
where difference is respected and valued. We recognise that a diverse workforce,
with a diverse set of experience, perspectives, understanding and background will
support the development of new ideas.
We are focused on how we will continue to reform the way we work to enhance the
capabilities of our staff, develop an inclusive culture where leaders, at all levels,
promote a culture of personal responsibility and accountability and empower an
engaged workforce, where our staff can be creative, flexible and have the right skills
to respond positively to any challenges ahead. In so doing, we will build on the
resilience of the workforce, increase productivity and effectiveness to enable us to
respond to community demands together, providing the best outcomes for our
residents.
This strategy recognises that career trajectories and structures are changing and the
traditional boundaries of jobs are starting to break down as people seek portfolio

Page 76

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029
careers and organisations seek individuals who can move from project to project
rather than fit a defined role, requiring us to challenge traditional specialised and
linear public sector careers. These changes will therefore require us to respond and
think differently if we are to recruit and retain a truly diverse and inclusive
workforce, a workforce which is able to bring insight, encourage change and the
ability to innovate, enabling us to transform, grow and deliver people focused
services and initiatives.
Ian Gallin, Chief Executive

Page 77

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

Our Vision, values and behaviours
West Suffolk Council’s vision is to be ambitious in supporting and investing in our
communities, businesses and the environment and to encourage and manage
growth, prosperity and quality of life for all.
Our values and behaviours are measured through our staff performance
development review and underpin our workforce strategy, our roadmap to ensuring
we have a motivated, committed and well-equipped workforce.

Our workforce journey – where are we now?
West Suffolk Council is committed to being an employer of choice, offering an
excellent working and development environment, with a commitment to learning and
improving.
We recognise that the key quality and financial objectives can only be achieved
through the contribution of a well-led, engaged and efficient workforce, a workforce
proud to work for the people of West Suffolk.
The previous strategy 2018-2020 and the Interim People Plan 2020-2021 focused on
the development of our workforce post-shared services and during the response to
COVID-19, as well as the changing landscape of working in a much more
collaborative way with partners.

Page 78

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029
A summary of some key achievements includes:



Skills and behaviours
We continue to provide opportunities for staff to engage and learn new skills. We
invest in continuous professional and personal development for all staff by
offering in-house and externally commissioned development programmes.



Recruitment and retention
We have focused on flexible and timely approaches to recruitment, embedding
career pathways for succession planning, and we have continued to seek flexible
opportunities in the way people want to work with a focus on service delivery.



Health and wellbeing
We have continued to offer a range of health and wellbeing initiatives that are
made available to staff and online health and wellbeing resources that can be
accessed at any time. Wellbeing levels across the organisation continue to be
positive and the results from the wellbeing pulse surveys have consistently shown
that there is great team support and positive working relationships across the
organisation and high confidence that people can get help when they need it, as
well as high levels of interest in work.
The warning signs we need to continue to consider are personal resilience,
workloads, stress management, opening communication or connectivity with
others to support these risk areas and physical health while working at home.



Reward and recognition
We have continued to find creative ways to support our employer offer, with the
introduction of additional non-financial rewards such as staff recognition awards.



Future planning
With the continued commitment to apprenticeships, career pathways and
promotion opportunities, we now need to move forward into an exciting new
phase of our journey, capturing learning from our previous achievements, the
pandemic and post COVID-19, to transform the way we deliver our services in a
new agile way.

Contextual factors affecting our future workforce
We continue to have a strong reputation and proven track record of transforming
local government to meet the challenges faced by our council and communities,
demonstrated by the creation of one West Suffolk Council. We need to build on this
as we prepare the workforce for a range of external and internal challenges ahead.
Table 1 outlines the ongoing internal workforce challenges.

Page 79

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

Table 1 – Ongoing internal workforce challenges
Challenge

Measures

Recruiting and retaining a wide range
of talent

Future profiling and succession
planning that continues to grow and
develop our own staff alongside the
new to attract fresh external insights

New ways of working

Career pathways and progression

Leadership development and peer
networks

Maximising the skills of current staff

Agile working

Financial sustainable solutions

Equality, diversity and inclusion
covering recruitment, networks,
training and coaching and mentoring

Health and wellbeing, with a focus on
physical health and mental health

New learning management system

New approaches to corporate
inductions

Leading Together development
programme

Range of coaching and mentoring
options

Staff survey and wellbeing pulse
surveys

Ensuring employees are able to fully
utilise the opportunities that emerge
from new technologies that will
transform how we deliver

Workforce strategy model
Our strategy is underpinned by our overarching commitment: to enable West Suffolk
Council to be a great place to work by attracting and growing a competent workforce
with the right skills and behaviours to deliver the best services for our communities.
The model below outlines how this strategy sits across the wider organisational
context.

Page 80

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

Strategic
vision

Our reason

Our vision

Strategic plan

Business model

Service plans or
balanced scorecard

Medium Term
Financial Strategy

Organisation
structure

Analysis

Action plan

Workforce model

Workforce
analysis –
the data

Now, future and
how

Model structure
e

Job families or
organisational
layers

Right size

Skills and
behaviours

Performance
management and
progression

Right skills

Recruitment and
retention

Model variables

Right shape

Pay, reward and
recognition

Right location

Health and
wellbeing

Right spend

Future planning

Workforce future
demand scenarios
Internal and
external labour
supply
Workforce
benchmarks

Valuing difference
The council recognises that a diverse set of experiences, perspectives and
backgrounds is crucial to innovation and the development of new ideas. Valuing
differences plays a key role in attracting and retaining talent and is an important
component of a successful organisation.
We are committed to providing equality of opportunity, creating a culture where
diversity is valued and encouraged, using the principles of the Equality Framework
for Local Government.
As part of this strategy, we set out how we will work towards a workforce that
reflects the diversity of the local community, so that our services are provided
appropriately and the council benefits from a wealth of experiences.

Page 81

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

Throughout our workstreams, we encompass our approach to taking positive action
to support our commitment to being an inclusive employer who values diversity and
promote and support Disability Confident through both recruitment and retention.

Leading together
To support managers at all levels to assist in coaching and supporting their staff and
help deliver this strategy, Leading Together is our overall leadership commitment to
‘building an engaged and energised workforce where different ideas are valued,
ensuring that we know, support, empower and trust staff to effectively deliver, while
being inclusive in all we do’.
This will be achieved through our five leadership behaviours:







be authentic
be visible
engage with others to understand
lead with integrity
be enquiring and challenging.

Our workstreams and priorities
We continue to focus and build on our five key workstreams as they underpin the
ambitions of our organisation in becoming an agile employer, as we look to further
transform the way we work in the coming period together with our commitment to
attract, train and retain a workforce which embraces equality, diversity and
inclusion.

Skills and behaviours
Why is this a priority?
We strive to be an organisation where we support the right people, with the right
skills to deliver and where people can give their best at work. Our people must be
supported by strong leadership, leaders who create an environment of involvement
and respect and where different ideas, backgrounds and perspectives are valued and
used to create innovative and sustainable ways to work with our elected members
and our communities. Equally we encourage and support all staff to demonstrate
leadership, both personally and organisationally. We must focus on connective skills,
those which enable collaborative working and shared delivery, translating our vision
into successful completion of projects, to continue to drive public services.

Page 82

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029
What do we want to achieve?


Continue to train, develop and grow our workforce in multi-disciplinary settings to
ensure our staff have the skills for their role, but to also focus on transferable
skills as well as professional and technical skills.



Continue to develop our teams to have the skills and behaviours to deliver
services innovatively, creatively and flexibly, ensuring our staff are fully engaged
at all levels.



Support a flexible workforce through redeployment, secondment and job swaps,
opening opportunities for our staff to work across the organisation, creating
inhouse capacity to meet organisational demand.



Support inclusive leaders, those who model the right values and behaviours and
who welcome individual contributions, encourage and support engagement in
decision making, challenge the norm and demonstrate effective coaching and
mentoring.



Develop leaders who have a people centred approach and promote a culture of
personal responsibility and accountability, using emotional intelligence and
actively promoting and supporting health and wellbeing.



Encourage all staff to show personal and organisational leadership, taking
responsibility and accountability in their work and their learning and development
with a strong commitment to continuous personal development, investing in
themselves as well as others.



Foster a cultural mindset to learning and development and encourage a sharing of
knowledge and interesting information across the workforce.

What actions will help us deliver the needs identified?



Continue to develop career pathways, mapping skills, future knowledge and



Identify career pathway plans which can overlap into different areas to bring
together core skills and abilities over a range of work areas and continue to
develop skills mapping to match job roles to new and appropriate apprenticeship
standards.



Continue to maximise the opportunities of the apprenticeship levy either through
apprenticeship contracts or upskilling the workforce, finding innovative and new
subject standards.



Deliver a suite of compulsory training for managers, supervisors and team leaders
through providing leadership training and exploring opportunities around master
classes.

behaviours to support succession planning, building in flexibility where necessary
to develop skills across multiple areas of the organisation, a zig zag approach to
career progression.

Page 83

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029


Introduce a comprehensive equalities and diversities training offer, including
recruitment and interviewer training, unconscious bias and anti-racism and
manager training.



Embed a culture where staff invest in their own learning through the ‘Take Time
To Learn’, a commitment of dedicating at least one hour a month to developing
themselves through a range of ways – for example, reading interesting articles,
completing e-learning modules, watching videos, listening to podcasts, talking to
colleagues or discovering and sharing new ways of working.



Encourage staff sharing of relevant learning with colleagues, either formally in
team meetings or in discussions, or sharing learning with other colleagues across
the organisation to benefit their development.



Capture the learning and development activities in performance development
reviews, which feed into individual and service training plans.



Provide different ways of learning for our staff to self-develop in bite-size
sessions, as and when they need support and guidance, through platforms such
as Watch and Go, where staff can log in to watch single videos or a series of
videos created as learning pathways.



Continue to source new learning topics and providers to build on the current
corporate training offer and professional training offers, and monitor and report
on compulsory training module engagement to ensure we reach all corners of the
workforce, which delivers the needs for the directorate training plans.



Support our staff and peer networks to create a culture of engagement by
encouraging employees to have a voice that is listened to and explore how we
can extend these to support underrepresented groups.



Embed coaching and mentoring as core management skills.



Ensure all new managers, team leaders and supervisors are supported in their
roles, through induction and training, to provide a base line of West Suffolk
Council policies and procedures information, and continue to train to support
development.

Recruitment and retention
Why is this a priority?
We need to continue to source, recruit and retain the best people with the right skills
at the right time to deliver our vision. Good recruitment leads to good retention and
both are equally important to the growth and success of any organisation. We need
to build a diverse and inclusive workforce that is reflective of and understands our
communities, through all levels of the council. We need to ensure we support our
staff at the start of their employment, from appointment to retirement, ensuring we
focus on their work life balance and enabling them to reach their full potential and
aspirations.

Page 84

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

What do we want to achieve?


Retain as many as possible of our high performing employees who show
commitment, dedication and loyalty to ensure we maintain a stable workforce,
especially in terms of skills and knowledge.



Monitor and retain healthy turnover rates, because we are an employer of choice
– a place where people want to work, and want to recommend others to work
with us, bringing new skills and ideas to continue to build a strong workforce.



Be able to attract and retain specialist and hard to fill roles through creative
approaches to recruitment and different models of recruitment and employment
engagement.



Find creative ways to recruit to hard to fill roles, within the ethos of the council’s
employment principles, finding solutions which are sustainable, fair and equitable.



Ensure that new entrants to the council are fully embedded in the organisation
from the outset and are welcomed by an induction programme that supports that
process and their needs.



Support our employees in their work and their personal lives by advocating work
life balance, supporting agile working, caring responsibilities and volunteering
opportunities.



Ensure we support new ways of working through our new recruits,
complementing the current agile working, and through the working lives of our
employees, responding to different needs while ensuring the services deliver.

What actions will help us deliver the needs identified?


Develop and deliver an onboarding process for new starters, which enables
processes to be completed online from application to offer, enabling induction
to focus on the employee manager and the employee employer relationship
and introduction to the council, together with the personal needs of each
employee.



Develop and deliver a new manager induction process which signposts
managers to the toolkits and guidance in managing people and managing
processes.



Deliver a corporate induction event which enables all staff to meet members of
Leadership Team together with colleagues across other service areas.



Attract a wider pool of talent by re-evaluating the skill set needed when
replacing staff, considering the needs of the role, not straightforward
replacement.

Page 85

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029


Ensure that all recruitment requests consider the widest options available for
agile working, to ensure we attract a wider and diverse audience, testing and
questioning traditional thinking and potential barriers.



Promote agile working through our recruitment processes, by clarity and
storytelling, with our staff sharing experiences and practices, and widening
this through our recruitment website pages.



Focus on local jobs for local people, within a local government setting, while
considering suitable roles where wider ways of agile working may be available
and enabling us to attract a wider and diverse workforce, particularly for
under-represented and disadvantaged groups.



Review our recruitment processes to identify and address any disparity in
equality of opportunity.



Continue to support career pathways, through apprenticeships, secondments,
redeployment and job swapping, supporting job enrichment and satisfaction
and enabling a flexible workforce to work across the council, having an insight
into what all corners of the organisation do, not just those areas where they
are deployed to work.



Consider other flexible offers such as sabbaticals and career breaks, to enable
our workforce to fulfil other opportunities, whether that be personal or work
related, with the opportunity to return to the council, bringing back enriched
skills and abilities achieved through different experiences.



Focus on developing further employee engagement initiatives, such as staff
focus groups, capturing the energy of staff who want to look at the possible in
everything we do.



Capture exit interview data to enable a clear understanding of the reason for
staff movement, highlight any trends which can inform changes and
expectations of staff.

Pay, reward and recognition
Why is this a priority?
We need to continue to be able to recruit and retain a diverse range of people and
pay, reward and recognition is a fundamental part of our offer to our staff at a time
when resources are even more stretched, post-COVID-19 recovery. In order to
attract the best staff, we need to be able to ensure that we not only offer the
employer of choice reputation but the widest available benefits that are available to
us, in the most cost effective way, recognising that benefits are not always about
pay. We need our staff to realise they are valued and recognised for their efforts
through initiatives and events.

Page 86

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029
What do we want to achieve?


Continue to bring in new benefits, which meet our workforce needs, in terms of
financial support and management, and enhance our offer through our West
Suffolk We Save platform.



Be competitive in terms of our pay, reward and recognition offer to our workforce
and to future recruits.



We are proud of our gender pay position – endeavour to ensure that any future
pay initiatives do not compromise this position.



Promote that reward is not all about pay and the employer offer focuses on the
widest possibilities.



Demonstrate to our staff, through staff recognition schemes such as the yearly
recognition rewards, that we value them.

What actions will help us deliver the needs identified?



In July 2021, we launched Cushon, a financial benefit which offers savings
schemes for staff and is based on the West Suffolk We Save platform. Continue to
promote this, along with financial initiatives, webinars and talks.



Launch Salary Finance, a financial benefit based on the West Suffolk We Save
site, which offers the widest financial help to our staff, including short term and
long term loans, draw down arrangements during the pay month and other
opportunities to support short term financial pressures.



Continue to ensure our pay line is fit for purpose.



Undertake both gender and ethnicity pay gap recording.



Continue to utilise the full range of benefits available on the Reward Gateway
platform, such as SmartTech purchase scheme, SmartAwards e-cards and
e-communication and a car benefits scheme.



Continue to work with Reward Gateway to promote the West Suffolk We Save
benefits and actively communicate, through the site, with staff who are signed up
as members and continue to promote ‘good news savings’ with updates from
Human Resources and Learning and Development.



Promote our range of non-financial benefits, such as agile working, flexible
working and work life balance, and ensure those policies continue to add to the
overall offer.



Continue to deliver yearly staff award recognition which reflects the priorities of
West Suffolk Council.

Page 87

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

Health and wellbeing
Why is this a priority?
A healthy and motivated workforce, which demonstrates resilience
and is responsive to change, will reflect in the quality of services we
provide for our communities.
A proactive approach towards workplace health and wellbeing will support our staff
to be happy, healthy and motivated. Failure to recognise that a culture of a strong
commitment to health and wellbeing is one of the most important offers an employer
can make will result in an increase on spend in this area, together with low morale,
poor productivity and high turnover. Good health and wellbeing is a core enabler of
employee engagement and organisational performance.
What do we want to achieve?


Support our staff to ensure they maintain a work life balance, which provides a
sense of value and responsibility with employees being in control of their lives. In
return, our staff will have increased loyalty and a stronger commitment to the
organisation.



Ensure levels of absence are at a manageable level across the council, but also be
mindful of how agile working can mask absence through a commitment of always
being accessible.



Aspire to be a good employer who recognises the importance of work life balance,
but also the pitfalls where home and work lines can potentially blur in order that
we can reduce workplace stress and absence.



Support employees to have a choice over how and when they work, giving them
greater autonomy and job satisfaction.

What actions will help us deliver the needs identified?


Through strong people policies, such as agile working and health and
wellbeing, continue to support an environment where our employees matter to
us and our managers take responsibility for supporting and signposting their
staff in terms of wellbeing interventions.



Encourage and support our employees to maintain good physical and mental
health, actively monitoring health data, and develop a positive work and home
life balance to avoid home life conflict and positively discourage a working long
hours culture and an expectation to always be accessible.



Work with managers to ensure that health and wellbeing is a priority and
ensure that they uphold those values in the ways in which they will support
their staff and themselves.



Provide a wide range of health and wellbeing initiatives, which support not
only the national events and topics but also reflect and respond to the needs

Page 88

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029
of our workforce, and ensure that initiatives are monitored and evaluated to
ensure they are current and relevant.


Ensure we recognise health issues, especially in an agile world, and can
address them and support staff and managers to resolve matters, ensuring
our managers lead by example through emotional intelligence, role modelling
and self-awareness.



Communicate and evaluate our health and wellbeing offer, through the
intranet and use of regular pulse surveys, to support health and wellbeing.



Support agile ways of working to enable our staff to maintain a work life
balance and empower them to have more autonomy over their work, where it
is done and how it is done.



Work closely with our external counselling provider to offer timely and topical
support networks such as the parent and carer group and the new normal life
group.



Support our staff to engage with staff networks which provide a culture of
engagement, encouraging employees to have a voice and a safe space to
share issues, concerns and ideas, to ensure a range of views are considered
for the best outcomes.



Engage and work with our mental health first aiders and wellbeing champions,
to continue to offer a range of support for our workforce, through our internal
network of staff based in our services.

Future planning
Why is this a priority?
Workforce planning can be the most effective activity an organisation
can engage in to provide internal and external intelligence to enabling effective
current staff needs and future succession planning. We need to be able to plan for
skills shortages, both local and national, monitor turnover and undertake succession
planning to be able to respond to service needs and demand and continue to support
the transformation of the organisation. Planning enables us to identify gaps between
the present and the future, to enable the implementation of solutions so that we can
deliver on our priorities.
What do we want to achieve?
We need to stay ahead of the curve to ensure that we have the right number of
people, with the right skills, employed in the right place at the right time. We need
to think creatively and consider career pathways and career portfolios which enable
us to utilise our workforce in the most flexible way that enhances not only their
career opportunities but also the opportunities for the council. We need sound
workforce planning to enable sustainable organisational performance, through better
decision making about the future people needs in the public sector. We need to be
able to tell the story through our workforce data.

Page 89

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029
What actions will help us deliver the needs identified?


Positively encourage and seek opportunities for our staff to be redeployed or
seconded to other parts of the council in order to build new skills and abilities,
building portfolio careers which will enable a greater approach to matrix working.



Use information drawn from the staff surveys to inform workforce planning
decisions and actions.



Encourage a stronger commitment and a fluid movement of staff to enable staff
to gain new skills within the organisation, supporting the 21st century public
servant expectations of the new public sector employee.



Ensure that workforce planning is not just about numbers, but is about skills
potential and how this can be deployed across a multi-disciplinary organisation,
with buy-in needed from the whole organisation, linking the strategic need to the
workforce planning.



Produce relevant people data, on a quarterly basis, to enable service managers to
interpret the data, input good quality information and analyse performance for
their service, but understand where their service fits with the organisation.



Improve the quality and quantity of data we hold about our workforce to help
make more insightful decisions. Use the data to bring together organisational and
strategic planning processes, while being clear that the approach must be flexible
to deal with constant change.

Delivering the strategy
A key part of any successful strategy is the execution and everyone has a part to
play in translating this strategy into reality and, in the process, enhancing our
culture.

Strategic managers


As a leadership team, promote and support the implementation of this strategy.



Create opportunities to talk to staff and managers about progress made against
our people plan aspirations and the ongoing challenges we face and how we can
overcome them.



Create a space to listen to staff and promote an inclusive workforce.



Encourage and support others to take responsibility for continual learning and
development.

Page 90

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

All people managers


Ensure all staff understand and know how their work contributes to our
objectives, connected to the performance development review.



Foster an inclusive team where people are recruited for attitude and trained for
skill.



Create an environment where staff are willing to try new ideas, focus on what
does work and what could be even better (growth mindsets).



Work together to identify and manage shared problems and develop shared
solutions – ‘one team culture’.



Know your people, use emotional intelligence to have difficult conversations,
show empathy and compassion, with wellbeing at the forefront of supporting
people.



Share and celebrate successes together; create and support development
opportunities.



Use resources in different ways; continue to embrace flexible deployment and
agile working.



Continually learn and adapt – as leaders and with our teams.



Focus on engaging and communicating with staff.



Be a cohort of strong and confident managers, working together internally and
across the system.



Build positive relationships with members to help shape and influence our
response to our challenges, opportunities and risks.

All staff


Keep talking and sharing ideas; be open minded.



Take the initiative to propose new ways of working which supports collaboration
and increases efficiencies for the council.



Take personal responsibility for how and when you work.



Utilise training and development opportunities to increase your understanding of
inclusivity and proactively address any discrimination in and outside the
workplace.



Take control of your personal learning and career progression.



Look after yourself and your teams; put wellbeing at the heart of all we do.

Page 91

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/029

Human Resources (HR) Team


Work closely with senior managers to develop workforce plans in directorates in
support of the priorities outlined in this strategy.



Regularly monitor and give feedback on emerging themes, progress and
challenges.



Review key HR policies, procedures, systems and management support to
facilitate organisational change.



Work closely with trade unions to help improve performance and lead on
negotiations.

Page 92

Agenda Item 10

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030

Annual Review and
Appointment of the Cabinet’s
Joint Committee, Panel and
Other Working Groups
Report number:

CAB/WS/22/030

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor John Griffiths
Leader of the Council
Telephone: 01284 757001
Email: john.griffiths@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officers:

Jennifer Eves
Director (HR, Governance and Regulatory)
Telephone: 01284 757015
Email: jennifer.eves@westsuffolk.gov.uk

21 June 2022

Teresa Halliday
Monitoring Officer
Telephone: 07572 144124
Email: teresa.halliday@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Decisions Plan:

The decision made as a result of this report will
usually be published within 48 hours and cannot be
actioned until five clear working days of the
publication of the decision have elapsed. This item is
included on the Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All wards

Page 93

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030
Recommendations:
1.

It is recommended that the Leader of the
Council nominates:

a.

Councillor Sarah Broughton, Deputy Leader
and Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Property, to be re-appointed as the full
member representing West Suffolk Council
on the Anglia Revenues and Benefits
Partnership Joint Committee in 2022 to
2023.

b.

Councillor Sara Mildmay-White, Portfolio
Holder for Housing and Strategic Health, to
be re-appointed as a substitute member
representing West Suffolk Council on the
Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership
Joint Committee in 2022 to 2023.

c.

It be noted that on the nomination of the
Leader of the Council, the Monitoring Officer
may exercise their delegated authority to
appoint appropriate Cabinet membership
(full and substitute members) to the above
joint committee during 2022 to 2023, as
necessary.
It is recommended that the Cabinet:

2.
a.

Continues to operate the Staff Consultative
Panel in 2022 to 2023 in accordance with
the Terms of Reference (ToR) contained in
Appendix A to Report number:
CAB/WS/22/030.

b.

Periodical meetings of the above Panel be
scheduled as and when required but with
regard to the discussion outlined in Section
2.2.2 of Report number: CAB/WS/22/030.

3.

Continues to operate the West Suffolk Grant
Working Party in 2022 to 2023 in
accordance with the ToR contained in
Appendix B to Report number:
CAB/WS/22/030.

4.

Continues to operate the West Suffolk Local
Plan Working Group in 2022 to 2023 in
accordance with the ToR contained in

Page 94

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030
Appendix C to Report number:
CAB/WS/22/030.
5.

It be noted that should it become necessary
and on the nominations of Group Leaders,
the Monitoring Officer may exercise their
delegated authority to appoint appropriate
membership (full and substitute members)
to the above Panel, Working Party and
Working Group during 2022 to 2023 in
accordance with their Terms of Reference.

6.

Provided that resources are available to
support them, informal task-and-finish
working groups or taskforces be established
to consider specific issues as required
throughout 2022 to 2023.

Page 95

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030

1.

Context to this report

1.1

Under Article 6 (The Cabinet) (paragraph 6.5.2) of the Council’s
Constitution, it states that:
“The Cabinet may carry out its functions:
d.

1.2

1.3

by delegating power to a joint committee, area committee or
another local authority”.

Under Article 9 (Joint Arrangements and Working Groups) of the Council’s
Constitution, it states that:
“9.2
9.2.3

Joint Arrangements
…. the Cabinet may only appoint Cabinet Members to a
joint committee and those Members need not reflect the
political balance of the Council as a whole.”

“9.3
9.3.1

Working Groups
The Council, Cabinet or Committees may appoint from
time to time such Working Groups as they think fit. The
Working Groups which have been appointed are identified
in Part 3 of this Constitution.”

The following joint committee, panel and other informal working groups,
either report to the Cabinet or exercise executive functions:
a.

Exercise executive functions on behalf of the Cabinet
- Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee

b.

Report to the Cabinet
- Staff Consultative Panel
- West Suffolk Grant Working Party
- West Suffolk Local Plan Working Group
- Other informal working groups / taskforces

1.4

The Cabinet is requested to review and appoint membership in accordance
with the terms of reference for its joint committee, panel and other
working groups for the year 2022 to 2023, as set out in section 2. below.

2.

Joint committee, panel and other working
groups

2.1

Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee

2.1.1

The Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee comprises
membership of each of the councils represented on the partnership (West
Suffolk Council, Breckland Council, East Cambridgeshire District Council,

Page 96

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030
Fenland District Council and East Suffolk Council). To comply with the
Constitution, the Council’s Joint Committee exercises executive functions on
behalf of the Cabinet. West Suffolk Council’s (WSC) current membership of
the Joint Committee is indicated below and is required to comprise Cabinet
members:
WSC full member (1)

Sarah Broughton

WSC substitutes (2)

Sara Mildmay-White
Vacancy

2.1.2

The constitution, partnership agreement and terms of reference for the
Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee was last fully
reviewed and approved by the partner councils in January 2020. Due to the
size of the document, it is not attached to this report, but can be viewed
electronically at CAB.WS.20.003 Appendix 1 - Review of the ARP
Constitution.pdf (westsuffolk.gov.uk)

2.1.3

The Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee continues to
work effectively, with the member representation from each partner
authority jointly managing the administration and performance of the five
councils’ respective statutory functions relating to the collection of council
tax and non-domestic rates, and the payment of housing and other relevant
benefits. It has also successfully administered and distributed payments for
the COVID-19 related grant and relief support schemes; and most recently,
the Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme, on behalf of the partner authorities.

2.1.4

It is recommended that:
1.

Councillor Sarah Broughton, Deputy Leader and Portfolio
Holder for Resources and Property, be re-appointed as the full
member representing West Suffolk Council on the Anglia
Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint Committee in 2022 to
2023.

2.

Councillor Sara Mildmay-White, Portfolio Holder for Housing
and Strategic Health, be re-appointed as a substitute member
representing West Suffolk Council on the Anglia Revenues and
Benefits Partnership Joint Committee in 2022 to 2023.

3.

It be noted that on the nomination of the Leader of the
Council, the Monitoring Officer may exercise their delegated
authority to appoint appropriate Cabinet membership (full and
substitute members) to the above joint committee during
2021 to 2022, as necessary.

Page 97

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030
2.2

Staff Consultative Panel

2.2.1

The Staff Consultative Panel provides a positive environment through which
to engage on the development of employment policies and practices. Some
of the policies are referred to Cabinet or Council (as appropriate) to
approve, whilst other papers are presented to the Panel to keep them
informed on employment related matters within the Council. Panel
members may also be consulted on / informed of items through e-mail
notification.

2.2.2

Having regard to the political balance of the Council, the Panel was
established in 2019 when adopting the Constitution for the new West Suffolk
Council and is made up of councillors and representatives of the staff
(usually through representatives from Unison, the Council’s recognised staff
union). The Panel has its own work programme, but additional items or
meetings can be called on request. The terms of reference are attached as
Appendix A.

2.2.3

Agendas and non-exempt papers are published on the West Suffolk Council
website; however, as a non-decision making body, meetings are held
informally and are not accessible to the public.

2.2.4

It is recommended that:
1.

The Staff Consultative Panel continues to operate in 2022 to
2023 in accordance with the Terms of Reference (ToR)
contained in Appendix A to Report number: CAB/WS/22/030.

2.

Periodical meetings of the above Panel be scheduled as and
when required but with regard to the discussion outlined in
Section 2.2.2.

2.3

West Suffolk Grant Working Party

2.3.1

Following implementation of transitional arrangements which were applied
as part of the creation of West Suffolk Council, the Cabinet agreed on 10
September 2019, to establish the West Suffolk Grant Working Party (Report
number: CAB/WS/19/027 refers).

2.3.2

The primary function of the Grant Working Party is to consider applications
to the Council’s Community Chest grant fund and make recommendations to
Cabinet on the level of funding (if any) that should be granted to applicants.

2.3.3

The Working Party is an informal non-decision making body that comprises
seven councillors and respects the political balance of the Council. It
primarily meets on three occasions a year to consider the Community Chest
applications. Agenda papers and meetings are not accessible by the public;
however, the Working Party’s composite report and recommendations are

Page 98

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030
published when presented to the subsequent publicly accessible Cabinet
meeting.
2.3.4

Due to the significant number and quality of applications received, difficult
decisions often need to be made within the eligibility and selection criteria,
and the budgetary constraints of the Community Chest fund. The Grant
Working Party thoroughly considers the applications and effectively supports
the Cabinet in making these decisions by providing the rationale behind
their recommendations. The Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities
who has the responsibility for the awarding of grants, is invited to attend
each meeting of the Working Party to ensure the Cabinet remains closely
involved in the process.

2.3.5

As they were previously contained in two separate documents, the
opportunity has been taken to amalgamate the membership and governance
arrangements for the Working Party with the existing terms of reference, as
set out in Appendix B.

2.3.6

Without a Grant Working Party, an alternative mechanism would be needed
to consider the Community Chest grant awards. This could take the form of
a portfolio holder or officer-led process; or consideration by Cabinet. These
options are not considered to be proportionate either in terms of the level of
accountability involved, or the time needed to consider a large number of
applications, respectively.

2.3.7

It is recommended that the West Suffolk Grant Working Party
continues to operate in 2022 to 2023 in accordance with the ToR
contained in Appendix B to Report number: CAB/WS/22/030.

2.4

West Suffolk Local Plan Working Group

2.4.1

On 16 March 2021, the Portfolio Holder for Local Plan Development and
Delivery (now Planning) took the decision to establish a West Suffolk Local
Plan Working Group. (Note, this decision was intended to be made
collectively by the Cabinet during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic
when all meetings were held virtually. However, due to technical issues
which prevented the Cabinet agenda and livestream to the meeting being
accessed by the public, the meeting had to be cancelled.)

2.4.2

The Working Group is an informal non-decision making body that comprises
ten councillors and respects the political balance of the Council. Where
possible, on the nominations of Group Leaders, representation is drawn
across the geography of the West Suffolk district. Agenda papers and
meetings are not accessible by the public; however, the Working Group’s
recommendations and the rationale behind them are published when
presented to subsequent publicly accessible Cabinet meetings.

Page 99

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030
2.4.3

The terms of reference for the Local Plan Working Group are attached as
Appendix C. These remain as agreed when the Group was established in
2021 other than minor amendments made as a result of in-year changes to
the job titles for the portfolio holder and the director with the responsibility
for the Group.

2.4.4

To help shape and form a leadership/political process to develop and
progress the emerging West Suffolk Local Plan, the Working Group’s
primary function is to deal with the detail of policy development, monitoring
and best practice covering the Local Plan preparation, public engagement,
and responses to consultations.

2.4.5

The alternative option to continuing the operation of the Local Plan Working
Group would be to test and refine site and policy options as well as draft
policy and the Local Plan using Cabinet or Council, with the option for
Overview and Scrutiny inspection. However, this is often a very detailed,
technical task and can be more effectively undertaken by a small working
group to explore options, key issues, and test policy/site options in detail.
The continuing appointment of the Local Plan Working Group also allows
members to lead and develop the Local Plan throughout its preparation
process.

2.4.6

Under the chairmanship of the Portfolio Holder for Planning, the Working
Group has satisfactorily operated during the 2021 to 2022 year and its work
has helped to reach a significant milestone in the Local Plan development
process. On 26 April 2022, the Preferred Issues and Options Consultation
documents were presented to Cabinet for recommending to Council for
approval on 17 May 2022. Subject to approval, consultation is planned to
commence at the end of May 2022. All of the aforementioned steps have
successfully accorded with the expected timescale for the entire process.

2.4.7

It is recommended that the West Suffolk Local Plan Working Group
continues to operate in 2022 to 2023 in accordance with the ToR
contained in Appendix C to Report number: CAB/WS/22/030.

2.5

Delegated Authority

2.5.1

During 2022 to 2023, there may be a requirement to change the current
membership of each of the above bodies. The Constitution’s scheme of
delegation to officers already allows the Monitoring Officer to appoint to the
various bodies of the Council on the nominations of Group Leaders.

2.5.2

It should therefore be noted that should it become necessary and on
the nominations of Group Leaders, the Monitoring Officer may
exercise their delegated authority to appoint appropriate
membership (full and substitute members) to the above Panel,
Working Party and Working Group during 2022 to 2023 in
accordance with their Terms of Reference.

Page 100

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030
2.6

Other informal working groups

2.6.1

The Cabinet may also during 2022 to 2023 set up informal member/officer
working groups to consider specific issues, which would usually be on a
task-and-finish basis. Such groups would make recommendations directly to
Cabinet or the appropriate committee in the form of reports. It is proposed
that such groups or taskforces would be formed as required.

2.6.2

It is recommended that provided that resources are available to
support them, informal task-and-finish working groups or taskforces
be established to consider specific issues as required throughout
2022 to 2023.

3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

Not to undertake an annual review; however, it is prudent to do so to
ensure the Cabinet’s groups remain effective and fit-for-purpose.

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

Appointments to the joint committee, panel and other working groups
detailed in this report will be made on the nominations of the Leader of the
Council and /or Group Leaders, as applicable.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

The Council could consider the creation of joint committees with partner
authorities to maximise opportunities for joint working.

5.2

To avoid duplication of effort between member bodies, undertaking reviews
of its working parties, panels etc is considered prudent to ensure they are
still relevant, adding value and do not cross over with other activities or
other bodies, for example scrutiny committees or task and finish groups.

5.3

To ensure meetings and reviews are accommodated with available member
and officer time and resources, it is considered prudent to carry out reviews
and disband any groups no longer required, and to optimise frequency of
meetings.

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

Financial implications:
The review has been undertaken within existing resources. Any changes
required as a result of the review will also be borne from existing budgets.

Page 101

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/030
Constitutional compliance:
See sections 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 above.
7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Appendix A – Staff Consultative Panel Terms of Reference
Appendix B – West Suffolk Grant Working Party Terms of Reference
Appendix C – West Suffolk Local Plan Working Group Terms of Reference

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

Cabinet: 14 January 2020 – Report number: CAB/WS/20/003 Appendix 1
Cabinet: 10 September 2020 – Report number: CAB/WS/19/027
Portfolio Holder Report: 16 March 2021 – Report number: CAB/WS/21/015
Appendix A

Page 102

Appendix A

Staff Consultative Panel – Terms of Reference
1.

Overview

1.1

The Panel’s membership will be drawn from Councillors and staff of the
Council. The definition of ‘staff’ includes all groups of employees covered
by the National Joint Council for Local Government Services.

1.2

The Panel will consider the Council’s staffing arrangements and provide a
regular forum to secure the largest measure of agreement between the
Council as an employer and Trade Union employees regarding matters
directly affecting employment by the Council

1.3

To provide a group of Members who can develop an enhanced level of
understanding on staffing matters.

1.4

To make recommendations to the Cabinet about policies and actions
required to develop and maintain effective employee/employer
arrangements.

2.

Constitution

2.1

The Panel shall comprise 12 Members, to be comprised of six Councillors,
which desirably reflects the political balance of the Council, as far as
practically possible, to be the ‘Employers’ Side’ and six members of staff
from the Council to be the ‘Employees’ Side’, nominated by the Trade
Unions recognised by the Authorities in accordance with the formula set
out below:(a)
Employee representatives appointed by each of the Trade Unions
recognised by the Authority should be on a proportional basis to the
total number of employees within the individual union compared to
the total Trade Union membership; and
(b)

Each Trade Union recognised by the Authority shall have a
minimum of one seat.

2.3

The Trade Unions recognised by the Council shall represent all Council
employees. This will include raising issues on behalf of non-Trade Union
members, should they be requested.

2.4

In the event of any failure to appoint/elect the number of representatives
provided for by this Constitution, such failure to appoint/elect shall not
invalidate the decisions of the Panel.

2.5

Two substitute Members shall be permitted on the ‘Employers’ Side’ and
two substitutes shall be permitted from the ‘Employees’ Side’.

2.6

It shall be the duty of a senior Human Resource Officer to attend and
advise the Panel.

Page 103

2.7

The Panel shall elect a Chair and Vice-Chair from its Members. When the
Chair is a Member of one Side of the Panel, the Vice-Chair shall be a
Member of the other Side. The Chair of the Panel shall be rotated on an
annual basis between the Employees’ and Employers’ Side. The Chair of
the meeting shall not have a casting vote.

2.8

The Panel may invite attendance by any person whose particular
knowledge or experience may assist the Panel in its considerations. Such
attendance shall be in a consultative capacity and only for the period
during which the relevant subject is under consideration. In addition, the
Employee side may arrange for the attendance of a Trade Union official at
any meeting of the Panel, subject to the prior agreement of the Chair and
Vice Chair.

3.

Terms of Reference

3.1

To establish and maintain methods of negotiation and consultation, to
consult on matters affecting the employment of all groups of employees of
the Council, with a genuine commitment to seek consensus and enter into
agreements, as appropriate.

3.2

These matters may include such subjects as:(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)

Application or implementation of National Agreements.
Application or implementation of Local Agreements or local
conditions of service.
Productivity or performance arrangements.
Issues referred to the Panel by the Trade Unions as provided for by
the formal ‘Consultation Procedures’ (Employment Restructuring &
Redundancy).
Working conditions.
Welfare and health of employees.
Personnel procedures including recruitment, sickness, discipline and
handling of grievances and redundancies.
Training and development of employees.
Equality issues; and
Any issue referred to the Panel by the Cabinet.

3.3

Issues affecting individuals (eg pay, discipline) are excluded from
consideration unless they represent matters of principle which are of
general application to employees.

4.

Authority of the Panel

4.1

Decisions of the Panel shall be in accordance with the voting
arrangements set out in paragraph 5.3 below and shall be subject to the
approval of the Cabinet, as provided for by the Council’s Scheme of
Delegation.

5.

Arrangements and Procedures

5.1

Meetings shall normally be held quarterly but, exceptionally, the Chair
may decide, after consultation with a senior Human Resources Officer to
convene an Extraordinary meeting at any time or to cancel a scheduled

Page 104

meeting due to lack of business to transact. Meetings to alternate between
the Council Offices or as agreed by the Panel.
5.2

The quorum for the Panel shall be four, comprising at least two Employee
representatives and two Members.

5.3

Voting shall be by a show of hands and simple majority. No motion shall
be regarded as carried unless it has been approved by a majority of
Employer representatives and a majority of Employee representatives
present and voting.

5.4

The report from the Panel to the respective Cabinet shall be by way of
presentation of the minutes or by way of a brief report in a format agreed
by the Cabinet.

5.5

If the Panel is unable to agree and no local settlement can be achieved,
the matter may be referred by either side to the Cabinet.

(*Note: This meeting is not governed by the normal Access to Information rules
(The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to
Information) (England) Regulations 2012) in the Council. Therefore these
meetings are not open to attendance by the public).

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

West Suffolk Grant Working Party
Terms of Reference
Role and Purpose of the Grant Working Party
To consider grant applications and recommend the level of grants payable to
organisations to officers or the Cabinet, based on the policies agreed by Council and in
accordance with the criteria for Community Chest Grant funding.

The governance and membership arrangements are based upon the terms of reference
for the former West Suffolk Grants to External Organisations Review Group (Cabinet
Report number: CAB/WS/19/007 and Appendix 1 refer) This Group evolved to form the
West Suffolk Grant Working Party, as agreed by Cabinet on 10 September 2019
(Report number: CAB/WS/19/027 - 10 September 2019 refers)
Membership
The Working Party will be formed of seven members and will consist of:
a. A minimum of four members from the Conservative Group
b. Three members of minority groups
Membership will be broadly apportioned in line with the political balance and
appointees from each party will be agreed by their respective group leader.
Substitutes
Each political group is allowed to appoint one standing substitute. In order to ensure
they can effectively contribute to debate when called upon, substitutes are allowed to
be in attendance at all Working Party meetings and will have access to all papers and
reports.
Portfolio holders
Members of the Cabinet shall have observer status; however, the Portfolio Holder for
Families and Communities will be specifically invited to attend each meeting, to
oversee and contribute to discussions, as appropriate.
Chair and Vice Chair
The Working Party shall elect a Chair and Vice Chair from amongst its membership at
its first meeting of each municipal year by a majority vote of the Working Party
members.
Frequency of meetings
The Working Party will specifically need to meet to consider the applications for
Community Chest funding, which may be on two or three occasions during the

Page 107

autumn/winter each year. Its recommendations will need to be presented to Cabinet by
February each year. With the agreement of the Chair, other meetings may be convened
at other times, as substantive business dictates.
It shall be the decision of the Chair whether meetings will be held virtually, in person,
or a combination of both.
Quorum
The quorum for meetings shall be four members
Voting
The Working Party should work towards achieving a consensus but where this cannot
be achieved voting shall be by a show of hands with the Chair having a casting vote.
Officer Support
The lead officer for the Working Party shall be the Director (Families and Communities),
supported by the Service Manager (Families and Communities), Families and
Communities Team Leader and the Families and Communities Officer that has specific
responsibility for facilitating Community Chest grants. Administration of meetings will
be undertaken by the Democratic Services Team.
Confidentiality
As a non-decision-making body, the normal Access to Information Rules do not apply.
Members may want to have a free and frank debate, in which they may test concepts
and ideas and to share such information when it is in a formative state. These ideas
may be subsequently discounted in entirety. Releasing information into the public
domain could undermine the subsequent proposals and decisions of the Working Party
and have the potential to damage the Council’s reputation.
Papers should therefore (minutes, reports etc) be treated as confidential unless it is
stated / agreed otherwise, or the information is already in the public domain.
Confidential information should not be shared with other parties, including other
councillors and outside organisations.
Any members who have concerns regarding access to information or the papers of the
meeting should raise this with the Monitoring Officer.
Limitations
As a working party, the group does not have any delegated decision making authority
and any recommendations would be considered by Cabinet or the relevant Portfolio
Holder/s for approval or adoption.

Page 108

Appendix C

West Suffolk Local Plan Working Group
Terms of Reference
Background
West Suffolk Council is in the process of developing a new Local Plan for its area. The
Local Plan must be in conformity with the National Planning Policy Framework and be
informed by evidence gathered that relates to West Suffolk and the wider area. All
Local Plan policies and documents must be approved by the Council, on the
recommendation of Cabinet.
This Local Plan Working Group is being established to support Cabinet in the
development of West Suffolk Local Plan, reviewing matters in depth, assessing a wide
range of evidence and providing a range of thoughts, opinions and recommendations
for Cabinet to consider.
Role and Purpose of the Local Plan Working Group
In addition to drawing on local insights and experience, members will be asked to share
their knowledge and insights of West Suffolk as a whole. This balance is important and
will support Cabinet in creating an informed local plan, which benefits all our
community. Specifically, they will:








Advise on the development of Local Plan documents, through reviewing and
commenting on the associated evidence base and draft documentation.
Review consultation responses, assessing how these should inform policy
preparation and how the local plan should be influenced by responses
Support the Council in its duty to consult with its partners including other local
authorities in the development of the local plan, evaluating their proposals and
how these shape / influence policy developments, particularly with regard to
cross-boundary issues
Evaluate how the local plan is compliant with national planning policy guidance
and good practice
Evaluate consultation approaches, advising on potential methods and options to
ensure effective engagement. Support the Portfolio Holder for Planning in
monitoring the delivery of the project timetable
Undertake other roles that the Portfolio Holder for Planning, in consultation with
the Chair, considers appropriate

In order to perform these roles, the Portfolio Holder for Planning shall agree a Work
Programme for the Working Group. This Work Programme shall be reviewed by the
Group at each meeting to ensure that progress is being achieved as expected. From
time to time, the Portfolio Holder for Planning may modify the work programme or
notify the Committee of changes to it.
Membership
10 Members including the Portfolio Holder for Planning.

Page 109

The working group will comprise councillors from across all political groups.
Membership will be broadly apportioned in line with the political balance and
appointees from each party will be agreed by their respective group leader.
Group leaders are encouraged to work to ensure there is a balance in the geographic
representation across the District and ensure there is representation from both rural
and urban areas.
Continuity and commitment is important to make this group effective. Members on the
Working Group are expected to ensure they make every effort to attend meetings and
where they are unable to do so, appoint a substitute.
In addition to performing their collective role, members of the group will be expected
to:
 Act as a champion for engagement with the local plan development process,
promoting consultations with local community groups, residents and
stakeholders, and attending in person and virtual consultation events where able
to do so
 Engage with their political groups to ensure all members are kept informed on
the local plan development process
 Keep informed of national and local developments and legislation that may
impact on the work of the group
 Actively participate in debates at the Working Group meetings
 Be creative, supporting new ideas coming forward and being open minded to
alternative proposals or viewpoints
 Read and consider papers presented in advance of the meeting, being proactive
in contacting officers to resolve any points of confusion ahead of the meeting
 As mentioned above, they will use their experience, knowledge and insight of
their local area, but be mindful of the need to consider the plan across the whole
of West Suffolk
At all times when taking part in the Working Group, members will be subject to the
West Suffolk Code of Conduct
Substitutes
Each group is allowed to appoint one standing substitute. In order to ensure they can
effectively contribute to debate when called upon, substitutes are allowed to be in
attendance at all Group meetings and will have access to all papers and reports.
Chair
Portfolio Holder for Planning will Chair the group.
The Chair shall appoint a Vice-Chair from amongst their members.
The Chair shall be responsible for the effective conduct of meetings and ensuring clear
conclusions are reached.
The Chair will also be expected to attend Cabinet meetings and other committees /
groups as appropriate to present the views of the Group as required.

Page 110

Quorum
The Quorum for meetings shall be 4 members
Frequency
Meetings shall take place in accordance with the work programme, established to
ensure the effective delivery of items on forthcoming agendas.
Voting
The Group should work towards achieving a consensus on matters subject to
consideration. The Portfolio Holder, as above, will be in attendance at meetings in order
to consider all views put forward in debate.
Officer Support
The lead officer for the Working Group shall be the Director (Planning and Growth),
supported by the Service Manager (Strategic Planning). Reports will be prepared and
presented to the Group by Officers from the Planning Policy team and officers from the
Council when relevant. Administration of meetings will be undertaken by the
Democratic Services Team.
Authority
The working group is advisory and has no decision-making powers.
Confidentiality
As a non-decision-making body, the normal Access to Information Rules do not apply.
Members may want to have a free and frank debate, in which they may test concepts
and ideas and to share such information when it is in a formative state. These ideas
may be subsequently discounted in entirety. Releasing information into the public
domain could undermine the subsequent proposals and decisions of the taskforce and
have the potential to damage the Council’s reputation.
Papers should therefore (minutes, reports etc) should be treated as confidential unless
it is stated / agreed otherwise, or the information is already in the public domain.
Confidential information should not be shared with other parties, including other
Councillors and outside organisations.
Any members who have concerns regarding access to information or the papers of the
meeting should raise this with the Monitoring Officer.

Page 111

This page is intentionally left blank

West Suffolk Council

Report number CAB/WS/22/031
Decisions Plan
Key decisions and other executive decisions to be considered
Date: 1 June 2022 to 31 May 2023
Publication date: 20 May 2022

Page 113

The following plan shows both the key decisions and other decisions/matters taken in private, that the Cabinet, portfolio holders,
joint committees or officers under delegated authority, are intending to take up to 31 May 2023. This table is updated on a monthly
rolling basis and provides at least 28 clear days’ notice of the consideration of any key decisions and of the taking of any items in
private.
Executive decisions are taken at public meetings of the Cabinet and by other bodies/individuals provided with executive decisionmaking powers. Some decisions and items may be taken in private during the parts of the meeting at which the public may be
excluded, when it is likely that confidential or exempt information may be disclosed. This is indicated on the relevant meeting
agenda and in the ‘Reason for taking the item in private’ column relevant to each item detailed on the plan.

Page 1 of 23

Agenda Item 11

Members of the public may wish to:
make enquiries in respect of any of the intended decisions listed below; or
receive copies of any of the documents in the public domain listed below; or
receive copies of any other documents in the public domain relevant to those matters listed below which may be submitted to
the decision taker; or
make representations in relation to why meetings to consider the listed items intended for consideration in private should be
open to the public.
In all instances, contact should be made with the named officer in the first instance, either on the telephone number listed against
their name, or via email using the format firstname.surname@westsuffolk.gov.uk or via West Suffolk Council, West Suffolk House,
Western Way, Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk, IP33 3YU or Mildenhall Hub, Sheldrick Way, Mildenhall, Suffolk IP28 7JX.

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Portfolio
Holder for
Planning

David Roach
Planning
07889 510003

Julie Baird
Director
(Planning and
Growth)
01284 757613

Briefing
note/report to
Portfolio Holder
for Planning and
draft Local
Impact Report.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
Not before
26/04/22

Page 114

Sunnica Energy
Farm Nationally
Significant
Infrastructure
Project (NSIP):
West Suffolk
Council’s Local
Impact Report
The Portfolio Holder for
Planning will be asked
to consider and
approve West Suffolk
Council’s Local Impact
Report in connection
with the Sunnica
Energy Farm NSIP
project proposals.
(Note that this will be
a joint Local Impact
Report prepared in
conjunction with
Suffolk County Council,

Not applicable

PH (KD) (e)
(i)

Julie Barrow
Principal
Planning Officer
01284 757621

Page 2 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet

David Roach
Planning
07889 510003

Julie Baird
Director
(Planning and
Growth)
01284 757613

Report to Cabinet
with draft Written
Represent-ation
attached.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
East Cambridgeshire
District Council and
Cambridgeshire County
Council.)

Page 115

Not before
24/05/22

Sunnica Energy
Farm Nationally
Significant
Infrastructure
Project (NSIP):
West Suffolk
Council’s Written
Representation
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider and
approve the Council’s
Written Representation
submission response in
connection with the
Sunnica Energy Farm
proposals.

Not applicable

(KD) (e) (i)

Julie Barrow
Principal
Planning Officer
01284 757621

Page 3 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet

John Griffiths
Leader of the
Council
01284 757001

Jen Eves
Director
(HR, Governance
and Regulatory)
01284 757015

Report to
Cabinet.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
21/06/22

Page 116

(deferred
from
24/05/22)

21/06/22

Review and
Appointment to
Cabinet
Panel/Working
Groups/Joint
Committee
The Cabinet will be
asked to review its
membership and
appoint to its
Panel/Working
Groups/Joint
Committee. It will also
consider the
establishment of any
new Panels/Working
Groups.

Not applicable

Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write Offs

Exempt
appendices:
paragraphs 1

(D)

Teresa Halliday
Service Manager
(Legal and
Governance)
01284 757144

(KD)

Cabinet

Page 4 of 23

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and

Report to Cabinet
with exempt
appendices

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Property
07929 305787

Property)
01638 719245

attached.

Carol Bull
Governance
01953 681513

Jen Eves
Director
(HR, Governance
and Regulatory)
01284 757015

Report to Cabinet
with draft
strategy
attached.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 117

21/06/22

The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
writing-off outstanding
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.

and 2

Workforce Strategy
The Cabinet will be
asked to approve the
Workforce Strategy
2022 to 2028

Not applicable

(D)

Cabinet

Wendy Canham
Service Manager
(Human
Resources and
Organisational
Development)
01284 757006

Page 5 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with draft revised
procurement
policy and
contract
procedure rules
attached.

Cabinet

Carol Bull
Governance
01953 681513

Alex Wilson
Strategic
Director

Report to
Cabinet.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
21/06/22
(new)

Page 118
21/06/22
(new)

West Suffolk
Procurement Policy
and West Suffolk
Contract Procedure
Rules
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
revisions to the
Council’s procurement
policy and contract
procedure rules. As it
will be a change to the
Constitution, approval
of the contract
procedure rules will be
recommended to
Council for a decision.

Not applicable

Street Lighting in
West Suffolk
Ahead of any

Not applicable

(D)
(R) – Council
27/09/22
(revised
contract
procedure
rules only)

(D)

Page 6 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 119
19/07/22

engagement with the
County Council and
town and parish
councils, the Cabinet
will be asked to
consider an initial
report on the
ownership and future
management of street
lighting within the
district, including the
links between this
topic and the Council’s
wider review of its
relationship with town
and parish councils.
West Suffolk Annual
Report 2021 to 2022
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider and

01284 757695

Not applicable

(D)

Cabinet

Page 7 of 23

John Griffiths
Leader of the
Council
01284 757001

Ian Gallin
Chief Executive
01284 757001

Report to
Cabinet, with
draft Annual
Report attached.

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet

John Griffiths
Leader of the
Council
01284 757001

Ian Gallin
Chief Executive
01284 757001

Report to
Cabinet, with
Investment Plan
attached.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 120
19/07/22
(new)

approve the West
Suffolk Annual Report
2021 to 2022, which
will previously have
been considered by the
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. Contained
within the Annual
Report is the Council’s
Annual Environmental
Statement. Appended
to the Statement will
be the updated Climate
Change Action Plan.
UK Shared
Prosperity Fund
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider and
approve West Suffolk
Council’s Investment

Not applicable

(KD)

Page 8 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
Plan for the UK Shared
Prosperity Fund.
20/09/22

Page 121

Annual Treasury
Management and
Financial Resilience
Report (2021 to
2022)
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the Annual Treasury
Management and
Financial Resilience
Report for 2021 to
2022.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
27/09/22

Page 9 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
20/09/22

Page 122
20/09/22

Treasury
Management Report
– June 2022 The
Cabinet will be asked
to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the financial resilience
activities between 1
April 2022 and 30 June
2022.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
27/09/22

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write Offs
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
writing-off outstanding

Exempt
appendices:
paragraphs 1
and 2

(KD)

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with exempt
appendices
attached.

Page 10 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.

Page 123

08/11/22

Council Tax Base for
Tax Setting
Purposes 2023 to
2024
The Cabinet will be
asked to recommend
to Council the basis of
the formal calculation
for the Council Tax
Base for West Suffolk
Council for the
financial year 2023 to
2024.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
13/12/22

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

08/11/22

Local Council Tax
Reduction Scheme

Not applicable

(R) – Council
13/12/22

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton

Rachael Mann
Director

Report to Cabinet
with recommend-

Page 11 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Resources and
Property
07929 305787

(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

ations to Council.

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 124
06/12/22

2023 to 2024
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
proposals for potential
revisions to the Local
Council Tax Reduction
Scheme prior to
seeking its approval by
Council.
Delivering a
Sustainable MediumTerm Budget
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee for
recommending to
Council on proposals

Not applicable

(R) – Council
13/12/22

Cabinet/
Council

Page 12 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
for achieving a
sustainable budget in
2023 to 2024 and in
the medium term.

Page 125

06/12/22

Treasury
Management Report
– September 2022
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the financial resilience
activities between 1
April 2022 and 30
September 2022.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
13/12/22

Page 13 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
06/12/22

Page 126
07/02/23

Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write Offs
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
writing-off outstanding
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.

Exempt
appendices:
paragraphs 1
and 2

(KD)

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with exempt
appendices
attached.

Community Chest
and Theatre Royal
Grants 2023 to 2024
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the West Suffolk Grant
Working Party in
respect of the levels of
funding (if any) to be

Not applicable

(KD);
however,
some
funding
allocations
may be
subject to
the budget
setting
process.

Cabinet

Robert Everitt
Families and
Communities
01284 769000

Davina Howes
Director
(Families and
Communities)
01284 757070

Recommendations of the West
Suffolk Grant
Working Party,
and a separate
recommendation
regarding the
granting of core
funding to the
Theatre Royal, to

Page 14 of 23

Joanna Rayner
Leisure,
Culture and
Community
Hubs

Alex Wilson
Strategic
Director
(for Theatre

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(for Theatre
Royal core
funding grant
only)
07872 456836

Royal core
funding grant
only)
01284 757695

Cabinet.

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 127
07/02/23

awarded to applicants
to the Community
Chest funding scheme
for 2023 to 2024 and
in some cases, 2024 to
2025.
The report containing
the above
recommendations will
also include separate
consideration of a core
funding grant to the
Theatre Royal in Bury
St Edmunds for 2023
to 2024.
Delivering a
Sustainable MediumTerm Budget
The Cabinet will be

Not applicable

(R) – Council
21/02/23

Cabinet/
Council

Unless
Page 15 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

07929 305787

01638 719245

Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 128
07/02/23

asked to consider
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee for
recommending to
Council on proposals
for achieving a
sustainable budget in
2023 to 2024 and in
the medium term.

Budget and Council
Tax Setting 2023 to
2024 and Medium
Term Financial
Strategy 2023 to
2027

separate
proposals
are
recommended by
Cabinet,
consideration by
Council will
take place as
part of the
budget
setting paper
on 21/02/23
Not applicable

(R) – Council
21/02/23

Cabinet/
Council

Page 16 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 129
07/02/23

The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
proposals for the 2023
to 2024 budget and
Medium Term Financial
Strategy 2023 to 2027
for West Suffolk
Council, prior to its
approval by Council.
This report includes
the Minimum Revenues
Provision (MRP) Policy
and Prudential
Indicators.
Financial Resilience
- Strategy Statement
2023 to 2024 and
Treasury
Management Code of
Practice

Not applicable

(R) – Council
21/02/23

Page 17 of 23

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 130
07/02/23

The Cabinet will be
asked to recommend
to Council, approval of
the Strategy
Statement 2023 to
2024 and Treasury
Management Code of
Practice for West
Suffolk Council, which
must be undertaken
before the start of
each financial year.
Treasury
Management Report
– December 2022
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny

Council.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
21/02/23

Cabinet/
Council

Page 18 of 23

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Property
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Property)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with exempt
appendices
attached.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 131

14/03/23

Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the financial resilience
activities between 1
April 2022 and 31
December 2022.
Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write Offs
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
writing-off outstanding
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.

Exempt
appendices:
paragraphs 1
and 2

(KD)

Page 19 of 23

Note 1: Definition of exempt information and relevant paragraphs of the Local Government Act 1972
In accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
The public may be excluded from all or part of the meeting during the consideration of items of business on the grounds that it
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information defined in Schedule 12(A) of the Act, as follows:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Page 132

5.
6.
7.

Information relating to any individual.
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information).
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with
any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under,
the authority.
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.
Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
a.
to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
b.
to make an order or direction under any enactment.
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of
crime.

In accordance with Section 100A(3) (a) and (b) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
Confidential information is also not for public access, but the difference between this and exempt information is that a Government
department, legal opinion or the court has prohibited its disclosure in the public domain. Should confidential information require
consideration in private, this will be detailed in this Decisions Plan.

Page 20 of 23

Note 2:

Key decision definition

A key decision is an executive decision that either:
a. Results in new expenditure, or a reduced income or savings of more than £100k in any one year that has not otherwise
been included in the Council’s revenue or capital budgets.
b. Comprises or includes the making, approval or publication of a draft or final scheme, which is not a routine business
decision, that may require, either directly or in the event of objections, the approval of a Minister of the Crown.
c. Results in the formation of a new company, limited liability partnership or joint venture.
d. Has a potentially detrimental impact on communities outside of West Suffolk District.

Page 133

e. Is a decision that is significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in a definable local community in the
District, or on one or more wards, in that it will:
i. Have a long-term, lasting impact on that community; or
ii. Restrict the ability of individual businesses or residents in that area to undertake particular activities; or
iii. Removes the provision of a service or facility for that community; or
iv. Increases the charges payable by members of the community to provide a service or facility by more than 5%; or
v. Have the potential to create significant local controversy or reputational damage to the Council
f. A matter that the decision maker considers to be a key decision.
g. Any matters that fall under the scope of e. above must be subject to consultation with the local Member(s) in Wards that
are likely to be impacted by the decision prior to the decision being made.

Page 21 of 23

Note 3: Membership of bodies making key decisions
a.

Membership of West Suffolk Council’s Cabinet and their portfolios
Cabinet Member
John Griffiths
Sarah Broughton
Jo Rayner

Page 134

Carol Bull
Andy Drummond
Robert Everitt
Susan Glossop
Sara Mildmay-White
David Roach
Peter Stevens

Portfolio
Leader of the Council
Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for
Resources and Property
Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for
Leisure, Culture and Community Hubs
Portfolio Holder for Governance
Portfolio Holder for Regulatory and Environment
Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities
Portfolio Holder for Growth
Housing and Strategic Health
Portfolio Holder for Planning
Portfolio Holder for Operations

Page 22 of 23

b.

Membership of the Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee (made up of Breckland Council, East
Cambridgeshire District Council, East Suffolk Council, Fenland District Council and West Suffolk Council)
Member Council
Breckland
East Cambridgeshire
East Suffolk
Fenland
West Suffolk

Full representative
Philip Cowen
David Ambrose-Smith
Maurice Cook
Jan French
Sarah Broughton

Page 135
Jennifer Eves
Director (Human Resources, Governance and Regulatory)
Date: 20 May 2022

Page 23 of 23

Substitute representative
Sam Chapman-Allen and Paul Claussen
David Brown and Joshua Schumann
To be confirmed
David Connor and Kim French
Sara Mildmay-White

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/032

Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write-Offs
Report number:

CAB/WS/22/032

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor Sarah Broughton
Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Property
Tel: 07929 305787
Email: sarah.broughton@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Rachael Mann
Director (Resources and Property)
Tel: 01638 719245
Email: rachael.mann@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

The decision made as a result of this report will
usually be published within 48 hours and cannot be
actioned until five clear working days of the
publication of the decision have elapsed. This item is
included on the Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All Wards

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the write-off of the amounts
detailed in the Exempt Appendix 1 to Report Number
CAB/WS/22/032, be approved, as follows:
1.

21 June 2022

Exempt Appendix 1: Business Rates
totalling £163,686.01.

Page 137

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/032

1.

Context to this report

1.1

The Revenues Section collects outstanding debts in accordance with either
statutory guidelines or Council agreed procedures.

1.2

When all these procedures have been exhausted the outstanding debt is
written off using the delegated authority of the Director, Resources and
Property for debts up to £4,999.99 or by Cabinet for debts over £5,000.00.

1.3

It is best practice to monitor the recovery procedures for outstanding debts
regularly and, when appropriate, write off irrecoverable debts.

1.4

Provision for irrecoverable debts is included both in the Collection Fund and
the General Fund and writing off debts that are known to be irrecoverable
ensures that staff are focussed on achieving good collection levels in respect
of the recoverable debt.

1.5

As at 1 May 2022 the Council Tax percentage of debt written off during
2022/23 for all previous years is 0.03%.

1.6

As at 1 May 2022 the Business rates percentage of debt written off during
2022/23 for all previous years is 0.07%.

2.

Proposals within this report

2.1

To review the current revenue collection performance and to consider writing
off outstanding debts, as detailed in the exempt appendices.

2.2

Provision is made in the accounts for non-recovery but the total amounts to
be written off are as follows with full details shown in Exempt Appendix 1
for Business Rates totalling £163,686.01.

2.3

As at 1 April 2022 the total National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) billed by
Anglia Revenues Partnership on behalf of West Suffolk Council (as the billing
Authority) is £71.9m per annum. The collection rate as at 1 May 2022 was
10.49% against a profiled target of 10.35%.

2.4

As at 1 April 2022 the total Council Tax billed by Anglia Revenues Partnership
on behalf of West Suffolk Council (includes the County, Police and Parish
precept elements) is £114.1m per annum. The collection rate as at 1 May
2022 was 10.97% against a profiled target of 10.84%.

Page 138

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/032

3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

There is an extensive and supportive recovery process prior to the
engagement of an enforcement agency. The Council currently uses the
services of the ARP Enforcement Agency to assist in the collection of business
rates and Council Tax and also has on-line tracing facilities. Although this
service was suspended during the lockdown and up to more recently,
enforcement is now reinstated in line with government guidance. It is not
considered appropriate to pass the debts on to another agency.

3.2

It should be noted that in the event that a written-off debt becomes
recoverable, the amount is written back on, and enforcement procedures are
re-established. This might happen, for example, if someone has gone away
with no trace, and then they are unexpectedly ‘found’ again, through
whatever route.

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

Leadership Team and the Portfolio Holder for Resources and Property have
been consulted with on the proposed write-offs.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

Low Risk - Debts are written off which could have been collected
Control - Extensive recovery procedures are in place to ensure that all
possible mechanisms are exhausted before a debt is written off.

5.2

Medium Risk – Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on recovery of debts and
the increase in bankruptcies, IVA, CVA’s are likely to impact this years’
collection rates. Close monitoring is taking place and support provided where
possible.

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

Financial as above.

6.2

Legal Compliance
- the recovery procedures followed have been previously agreed;
writing off uncollectable debt allows staff to focus recovery action on debt
which is recoverable.

6.3

Personal Data Processing
- no changes to the way we process personal data.

Page 139

Cabinet – 21 June 2022 – CAB/WS/22/032
6.4

Equalities
- the application of predetermined recovery procedures ensures that
everybody is treated consistently.
- failure to collect any debt impacts on either the levels of service provision
or the levels of charges.
- all available remedies are used to recover the debt before write-off is
considered.
- the provision of services by the Council applies to everyone in the area.

6.5

Crime and Disorder.

6.6

Environment or Sustainability.

6.7

HR or Staffing.

6.8

Changes to existing policies.

6.9

External organisations (such as businesses, community groups)
No significant implications on 6.1 – 6.8 as a result of this report.

7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Exempt Appendix 1 – Business Rates Write-Offs

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

None

Page 140

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 141

Agenda Item 14

This page is intentionally left blank

